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Report of the Board of Directors for 2022 

 

Sirs/Shareholders of Obeikan Glass Company 

 

Greetings,  

 

The Board of Directors of Obeikan Glass Company is pleased to present to you the annual report regarding the works and 

performance of the Company for the fiscal Year ended on 31/12/2022, along with the financial statements, the 

accompanying notes attached to it including the company's activities and performance.  

 

Board of Directors of Obeikan Glass Company 
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1. Chairman Message 

 

Sirs/Shareholders of Obeikan Glass Company 

Greetings,  

 

On behalf of my fellow members of the Obeikan Glass Company Board of Directors, we present to you our annual report for 

the past fiscal year ending on December 31, 2022. 

 

The beginning of 2022 witnessed the company achieving one of its most important strategic goals, when Obeikan Glass got 

listed in the Saudi stock market - the parallel market "Nomu" - on the seventh of February, as this listing will contribute to 

open new horizons for expansion and growth. 

 

We are proud of our continued excellence in operational, marketing and financial performance, as the company continued 

to achieve exceptional profits in the year 2022, the highest in the history of the company. An amount of 48 million riyals in 

2022. 

 

In conclusion, I can only express my sincere thanks and gratitude to our wise leadership, members of the Board of Directors, 

the company's management and all its employees for their efforts and hard work. We are confident in Allah Almighty and 

in our abilities that we are on the right path to achieve our goals and preserve our gains. 

 

Regards, 

Eng. Abdallah Abdulrahman Al-Obeikan 

Chairman of Board of Directors 
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2. CEO Message 

 

Sirs/Shareholders of Obeikan Glass Company 

 

Greetings, 

 
 

First of all, I extend my thanks and appreciation to the Chairman and members of the company’s Board of Directors for the 

support they provide to the company's management and its employees, which contributed to preserving our gains. At the 

same time, I value the efforts of all the company's employees, as the company continued to achieve exceptional results for 

the second year in a row. 

 

Indeed, the year 2022 was another exceptional year at all levels as at the beginning of 2022, the company was listed in the 

Saudi parallel market "Nomu". In view of the company's financial position, the company continued its policy of distributing 

profits to its shareholders, as the company distributed in the year 2022 an amount of 48 million cash dividends for 

shareholders. 

 

Obeikan Glass Company has continued to work according to international competitive foundations and standards and has 

committed itself to its mission to work to raise efficiency and increase production while adhering to the highest quality 

standards and has made the production process, quality control and meeting customer requirements parallel lines to 

achieve our goals in managing the company. 

 

Among our strategies for expansion and growth, as well as in line with Vision 2030 and in support of the Kingdom's 

renewable energy program, we are now studying various projects related to company’s activities that contributes and 

support government efforts to increase local content. 

 

We are confident in Allah and in our capabilities, as we are on the right path to achieve our goals and strategy. Praise be to 

Allah; we ended the year 2022 with exceptional profits that are the highest in the history of the company and for the second 

year in a row. 

 

We thank Allah for crowning our efforts with achieving the above achievements, and we ask allah to perpetuate the blessing 

of security and safety on our beloved kingdom under the leadership of our wise government. 

 

Regards, 

Eng. Fayez Jameel Abdulrazzag 

Chief Executive Officer 
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3. Mission and Vision 

 

Vision 

 

To gain superiority and leading position in the float glass industry. 

Mission 

 

To provide excellent glass quality products and superior customer services through value chain processes and 

innovation by highly qualified human resources. 

 

 

 

Values 
 

VALUES THAT LEAD TO LEADERSHIP 

 

 

  

 

FAIRNESS  INTEGRITY RESPECT 

We treat all our employees equally 

and develop and promote them 

with fairness. 

We believe in integrity in business 

and trust our employees to be 

ethical and honest 

We respect our customers, our 

employees & our partners. We 

respect the environment, our duty 

to society and the law. 
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4. About the Company 

 

1.4 Company’s Capital 

Obeikan Glass Company was established in 2006. The company's capital is 240 million Saudi Riyals, divided into 24 million 

equal nominal shares, with a nominal value of 10 Saudi Riyals per share, all of which are ordinary shares. 

 

2.4 Company’s Activities 

Obeikan Glass Company is one of the largest companies in the Middle East with a production capacity of 800 tons per day 

of glass panels and an annual production rate of 250,000 tons with thicknesses ranges from 3 mm to 12 mm, and glass 

panels sizes up to 6.50 meters in length and 2.66 meters in width . 

The factory was designed using the latest technologies in the float glass industry. The factory is located in Yanbu industrial 

city (the Royal Commission for Jubail and Yanbu) on an area of 375,000 m2. 

 

The company manufactures a variety of products, including: 
 

 

1.Float Glass 

It is a sheet of glass with different sizes, thicknesses and specifications, 

according to the end use, manufactured by the floating technique.  

Uses: 

Float glass is used in the construction sector, automobiles, solar 

panels, the furniture industry and other industries. 

2. Safety Glass 

It is the merging of two or more layers of glass using a film of polyvinyl 

butyl plastic. The thickness of the glass used, the number of layers 

used, and the thickness of the plastic film vary according to the 

performance required for the final product.  

Uses: 

This glass is used to increase the level of security, safety and noise 

isolation in buildings. 

3.Mirrors 

Sheets of float glass that are coated with a layer of silver and one or 

more layers of protective paint.  

Uses: 

Mirrors are mainly used in the construction and furniture industries. 

Float Glass 

Safety Glass 
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 Since its establishment, the company has sought to be among 

the leaders in the glass industry, not only in the Middle East, but 

also at an international level. The Company also is continuing its 

efforts in the development, preserving the quality of its products, 

improving the operational capabilities and reducing the 

production cost to maintain and meet the needs of our clients, 

improve profit margins and achieve the highest returns for its 

shareholders. The company has a main production line for the 

manufacture of transparent float glass, which began its commercial operation in the middle of 2011. 

 

In 2020, the laminated glass (Safety Glass) factory, which is 100% owned by Obeikan Glass Company, was opened. The new 

factory represents an important addition to the expansion and introduction of value-added products to meet the new 

standards in specifications, standards and building codes in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and around the world, and to be 

in line with the latest technologies related to environmental sustainability. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

The company makes all efforts to apply the highest standards in maintaining the quality of its products and their 

conformity to all international specifications recognized in the glass industry. 
 

That is why the company has received many of the required quality certificates such as the ISO 9001:2015, CE Marking 

certificate. Obeikan Glass has also received two awards in quality and institutional excellence, the King Abdul Aziz Award for 

Quality for the year 2020 and the Arab Award for Quality in 2021. 

 

The company prides itself to have a very wide customer base, inside and outside the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, backed by 

the excellence of its products and outstanding customer service, as the company exports to more than 45 countries around 

the world, including the continents of Asia, Europe, Africa and North and South America. 

 

 

 

 

 

Safety Glass Production 

Float Glass line 
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3.4 Investments 

The coated (reflective) glass factory was opened in 2016 and is a partnership with one of the international companies 

specialized in this field (AGC Europe, a subsidiary of the Asahi International Group) and other local partners. Obeikan Glass 

Company owns 19% of its capital. 

The production capacity of the factory is 5 million square meters. 

 

The factory produces coated glass, which is painted with chemical agents in the form of thin layers (100 nanometers to 

1000 nanometers). Thus, the coating consists of different layers of sub-coatings of different types and thicknesses. 

 

Among the advantages of coated glass is the reduction of ultraviolet rays, and many other advantages, including: Higher 

levels of comfort, reduce radiant heat, and potential savings in energy bills and reduced dependence on heating and cooling 

systems. 

 

4.4 Obeikan Glass’s Strengths and Competitive Advantages 

- One of the leading companies in the glass industry in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and the Middle East. 

- The maximum annual production capacity of the factory is 250,000 tons of glass. 

- The company's management has highly qualified and competent employees. 

- The company has a diverse client base inside and outside the Kingdom. 

- Ease of importing raw materials because the company's factory is near to King Fahad Industrial Port overlooking 

the Red Sea, as well as Yanbu Commercial Port. 

- The company's ability to export its products outside the Kingdom through Jeddah Islamic Port in Jeddah and King 

Abdullah Port in King Abdullah Economic City. 

- The company has received ISO 9001:2015 certificate for its commitment to international standards for the 

production of clear float glass. 

- The Company received King Abdulaziz Quality Award for the year 2020. 

- The Company received the Arab Quality Award for the year 2021. 
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5.4 Glass Production Phases  
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5. Financial Results for 2022, and the material Differences Compared to the 

Previous Year  

 

 

1.5 Operational Revenues 

The total operating revenues amounted to 502,18 million Saudi Riyals for the year 2022, compared to a total operating 

revenue 463,24 million Saudi Riyals for the year 2021 increased by 8.4%. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2021 

(Million Saudi Riyal) 

2022 

(Million Saudi Riyal) 
Change Change % 

Sales/Revenues 463,24 502,18 38,94 8.4% 

Gross Profits (Losses) 251,45 256,20 4,74 1.9% 

Operational Profit (Loss) 185,77 189,18 3,41 1.8% 

Net Profit (Loss) 
After Zakat and Tax 

173,68 177,65 3,97 2.3% 

Total Comprehensive Income 174,08 166,05 -8,03 -4.6% 

Total Shareholders Equities 
Excluding minority rights 

417,81 535,86 118,05 28.3% 

Earnings (Loss) per Share 7,24 7,40 0,16 2.2% 
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Geographical Distribution of Revenues 

The company sells its products in the local market and exports more than 30% of the products to global markets. 

The details of local/ gloabal sales for the year 2022 were as follows: 

 

Region Gross Sales (Million Saudi Riyal) Percentage 

Local  344,18 69% 

Global 158 31% 

Total  502,18 100% 

 

Operating results (sales) for the last five years 

 Sales Details (Million Saudi Riyal)  

 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 
% of change 

2022  with 2021 

Sales 290 258 261 463 502 8.4% 

Gross profits  113 92 78 251 256 2.0% 

Net profit 38 28 17 174 177 1.7% 

Profit margin 13% 11% 7% 38% 35% -7.9% 
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2.5 General & Administrative Expenses 

The general and administrative expenses of the company amounted to 22,53 million Saudi Riyals for the year 2022, 

compared to expenses amounting to 18,46 million Saudi Riyals for the year 2021. 

 

 2021 2022 

General & Administrative Expenses  

(Million Saudi Riyal) 

4618, 22,53 

 

3.5 Shareholders’ Equities 

Shareholders’ equity for the fiscal year 2022 have increased by an amount of 118 million Saudi Riyals, as it amounted to 536 

million Saudi Riyals compared to 418 million Saudi Riyals for the year 2021, by 28%, due to the company continuing its 

outstanding performance in achieving annual profits amounting to 178 million Saudi Riyals. 
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4.5 The Assets and Liabilities of The Company and The Results of Its Operations for The Last Five 

Fiscal Years 

The following table shows the assets and liabilities of the company and results of its operations for the last five fiscal 

years (Millions SAR): 

 

 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 

Total Assets 648 731 600 631 558 

Non-Current Assets 393 431 451 453 430 

Current Assets 291 300 149 178 128 

Total Liabilities 148 313 332 375 371 

Non-Current Liabilities 41 155 205 202 185 

Current Liabilities 107 158 127 172 186 

Revenues 502 463 261 258 290 

Revenues Costs 246 212 184 166 177 

Gross Profit 256 251 78 92 113 

Net profit (loss) 178 174 17 28 38 
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5.5 Payables and Accruals 

Movement of Zakat Provision for Fiscal Year 2022: 

 

 Million Saudi Riyal 

Balance at the beginning of the year 4,62 

Paid during the year 5,98 

Generated during the year 6,72 

Balance at the end of the year 5,35 

 

6.5 Zakat, Tax and Legal Payments  

 

Description Reason 2022  

  
Paid 

(Million Saudi Riyal) 

Due unpaid until the end of 

the annual fiscal period 
(Million Saudi Riyal) 

Zakat, Tax and Customs Authority 
Government 

Requirement 
32,06 9,08 

GOSI 
Government 

Requirement 
2,15 0,19 

Total (Million Saudi Riyal)  34,21 9,27  

 

7.5 Penalties and Fines 

Obeikan Glass Company has not been subjected to any penalties or sanctions during year 2022 by any supervisory, 

regulatory or judicial authority. 
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8.5 Loans Details  

Issued by 

Total Loan Value 

(Million Saudi Riyal) 

Total amount of the 

withdrawn loan 

(Million Saudi Riyal) 

Outstanding 

balance(unpaid) 

until 31/12/2022   

% Of the remaining 

balance  

until 31/12/2022   

a) long term loans 

        Industrial Fund 309,5 309,5 58,5 19% 

b)  Short term loans  

         International Islamic Trade Finance 34 33,3 3,8 11% 

Total Loans (A+B) 343,5 342,8 62,3 18% 

 

9.5  Risks that the Company encounters and mitigation methods  

Risks facing the company: 

 

1) With contradictory reports about the possibility of a global economic recession, the occurrence of such a recession 

will undoubtedly have an impact on the global demand for commodity products, including glass. 

2) Demand continued to decline in many global markets for glass, such as the European markets as a result of the 

Ukrainian war, inflation, and the competitions from the Chinese companies as a result of the change in the Chinese 

government's directions after the real estate developer’s crisis. This has led Chinese glass companies to increase  

export quantities significantly, and thus lower global prices for glass. 

3) As a result of the local economic conditions of some countries (Iran, Egypt, Pakistan and India), which led to a 

decrease in demand in these markets, the glass factories in these countries turned to the international markets to 

drain the surpluses of their increasing production from the possibility of absorbing their local markets. 

4) The costs of the final product increased compared to the cost level at the end of the year 2021. The increase is mainly 

due to the increase in the cost of one of the main raw materials (soda ash). 

10.5 Expectations and Future Plans 

The company continues to apply its strategy based on giving priority to meeting the demand in the Saudi market, which absorbs 

about 65% of its production, and then exporting the remaining quantities to the main markets in which the company maintains a 

market share or a strategic presence, and the rest of the production is for the most profitable markets. Accordingly, the company 

aims to export its products to the countries of the Gulf Cooperation Council, the Middle East, eastern and northern Africa, as well 

as countries in southern Europe and North America mainly, with continuous monitoring and evaluation of global market variables 

to reach the best possible profitability. 

 

As a result of the high costs and the decrease in international prices, it is expected that the profitability will gradually decrease 

during the year 2023, but it will be higher than the levels achieved in the first years of the company’s work. 
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6. Corporate Governance Regulations 

 

Obeikan Glass Company, represented by its Board of Directors and Executive Management, is keen to develop and follow 

up plans and controls that enhance the process of transparency and disclosure in order to comply with the rules and 

regulations of the Capital Market Authority, the Ministry of Commerce and other standards, as the company evaluated its 

compliance with the provisions of the Corporate Governance Regulations.  

Note that the corporate governance regulations approved by the company’s general assembly in 2019 are consistent with 

all the requirements of the corporate governance regulations issued by the Capital Market Authority, and this regulation 

has authorized the company’s board of directors to enforce the mandatory application of the guiding articles whenever 

required by the relevant authorities. 

 

The following are the requirements of the regulation that have not been implemented so far and the reasons for not 

applying it: 
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Article No. Paragraph/Text Reasons and Details 

Article (37) Training 

1) Preparing programs for the recently-appointed Board 

members, committee members, and Executive 

Management to familiarize them with the progress of 

the Company’s business and activities 

The article is still a Guiding Article and will be adhered to 

when approved. 
2) Developing the necessary mechanisms for Board 

members, committee members, and the Executive 

Management to continuously enroll in training 

programs and courses in order to develop their skills 

and knowledge in the fields related to the activities of 

the Company. 

Article (39) The Assessment 

a) The Board shall develop, based on the proposal of the 

nomination committee, the necessary mechanisms to 

annually assess the performance of the Board, its 

members and committees and the Executive 

Management using key performance indicators linked 

to the extent to which the strategic objectives of the 

Company have been achieved, the quality of the risk 

management and the efficiency of the internal control 

systems, among others, provided that weaknesses and 

strengths shall be identified and a solution shall be 

proposed for the same in the best interests of the 

Company. 

The article is still a Guiding Article and will be adhered to 

when approved. 

b) The procedures of performance assessment shall be in 

writing and clearly stated and disclosed to the Board 

members and parties concerned with the assessment. 

c) The performance assessment shall entail an 

assessment of the skills and experiences of the Board, 

identification of the weaknesses and strengths of the 

Board and shall attempt to resolve such weaknesses 

using the available methods, such as nominating 

competent professional staff able to improve the 

performance of the Board. The performance 

assessment shall also entail the assessment of the 

mechanisms of the Board’s activities in general. 

d) The individual assessment of the Board members shall 

take into account the extent of effective participation 

of the member and his/her commitment to performing 

his/her duties and responsibilities, including attending 

the Board and its committees’ meetings and dedicating 

adequate time thereof. 

e) The Board shall carry out the necessary arrangements 

to obtain an assessment of its performance from a 

competent third party every three years. 

f) Non-Executive Directors shall carry out a periodic 

assessment of the performance of the chairman of the 

Board after getting the opinions of the Executive 

Directors, without the presence of the chairman of the 

Board in the discussion on this matter, provided that 

weaknesses and strengths shall be identified and a 

solution shall be proposed for the same in the best 

interests of the Company. 
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Article No. Paragraph/Text Reasons and Details 

Article (41) Conflict of 

Interests Policy 

The Board shall develop an explicit and written policy to 

deal with actual and potential conflicts of interest 

situations which may affect the performance of Board 

members, a member of its committees, or the Executive 

Management or any other employees of the Company 

when dealing with the company or other stakeholders. 

The company applies conflict of interest policies without 

a written policy at the moment, and it is in the process of 

preparing a written conflict of interest policy. 

Article (55) Arrangements 

for Providing Remarks 

The audit committee shall develop arrangements that 

enable the Company’s employees to confidentially 

provide their remarks in respect of any inaccuracies in 

the financial or other reports. The audit committee shall 

ensure that such arrangements have been put into action 

through an adequate independent investigation in 

respect of the error or inaccuracy, and shall adopt 

appropriate follow-up procedures. 

In the process of developing a method as stipulated in 

article (55). 

Article (59) Remuneration 

Policy 

9) regulating the grant of Company's shares to the Board 

members and the Executive Management, whether newly 

issued or purchased by the Company 

Because the company’s articles of association do not 

include the awards method to allocate shares to the 

members of the board of directors and executive 

management. 

Article (67) Composition of 

risk management 

committee 

Form a risk management committee (Guiding) 
The article is still a Guiding Article and will be adhered to 

when approved. 

Article (68) Competencies 

of the risk management 

committee 

Competencies of the risk management committee 

(Guiding) 

The article is still a Guiding Article and will be adhered to 

when approved. 

Article (69) Meetings of 

the risk management 

committee 

Meetings of the risk management committee (Guiding) 
The article is still a Guiding Article and will be adhered to 

when approved. 

Article (70) Internal Control 

System 

The Board shall approve an internal control system for 

the Company in order to assess the policies and 

procedures relating to risk management, implementation 

of the provisions of the Company's governance rules 

approved by the Company and compliance with the 

relevant laws and regulations. 

Internal control system is prepared as per this Article. 

Article (72) Duties of the 

Internal Audit Unit or 

Department 

An internal audit unit or department assesses and 

monitors the implementation of the internal control 

system, and verifies that the Company and its employees 

comply with the applicable laws, regulations and 

instructions, and the Company's policies and procedures. 

In the process of developing a method as stipulated in 

article (72) . 

Article (73) Composing an 

Internal Audit 

Unit/Department 

Composing an Internal Audit Unit/Department (Guiding) 
The article is still a Guiding Article and will be adhered to 

when approved. 

Article (80): Regulating 

The Relationship With 

Stakeholders 

Regulating The Relationship with Stakeholders (Guiding) 
The article is still a Guiding Article and will be adhered to 

when approved. 

Article (84) Social 

Responsibility 
Social Responsibility (Guiding) 

The article is still a Guiding Article and will be adhered to 

when approved. 

Article (85) Social 

Initiatives 
(Guiding) Social Initiatives 

The article is still a Guiding Article and will be adhered to 

when approved. 
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Article No. Paragraph/Text Reasons and Details 

Article (86) Policies and 

Procedure of Disclosure 

Without prejudice to the Rules on the Offer of Securities 

and Continuing Obligations, the Board shall set forth in 

writing the policies, procedures and supervisory rules 

related to disclosure pursuant to the disclosure 

requirements provided for in the Companies Law and the 

Capital Market Law, as the case may be, and their 

implementing regulations, 

Various points are being applied, and written policies for 

disclosure are being prepared to be approved by the 

Board. 

Article (91) 

Implementation of 

Effective Governance 

The Board shall establish governance rules for the 

Company in accordance with the provisions of these 

Regulations, and shall monitor their implementation, 

verify their effectiveness, and amend them as necessary 

Establishing governance regulation according to the 

requirements of the article is in progress. 

Article (92) Formation of 

Corporate Governance 

Committee 

Formation of Corporate Governance Committee 

(Guiding) 

The article is still a Guiding Article and will be adhered to 

when approved. 
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7. Board of Directors, its committees and the Executive Management 

 

1.7  Board of Directors 

  

  

  

  

Eng. Abdallah Abdulrahman Al-Obeikan 

Chairman 

 

Mr. Yazeed Khalid Al-shathre 

Deputy Chairman 

Mr. Abdulaziz Saleh Al-Rebdi 

Director 

Mr. Ahmed Abdulaziz Alhakbani 

Director 

Mr.Turki Mohammed Albaiz 

Director 

Mr. Omran Abdulrahman Al-Obeikan 

Director 
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2.7 Duties and Competencies of the Board of Directors 

The Board of Directors shall have the following duties and authorities: 

 

• Adopting the strategic directions and main objectives of the Company and supervising their implementation, 

including: 

- Develop, review and direct the Company's full strategy, main business plans and risk management policy. 

- Determine the optimal capital structure for the Company, its strategy and financial objectives, and approving annual 

budgets. 

- Supervise the main capital expenditures of the Company and acquiring and disposing of assets. 

- Set performance goals and monitor implementation and overall performance in the Company. 

- Periodic review and approval of organizational and functional structures in the Company. 

 

• Establishing internal systems and controls and general supervision over them, including: 

- Develop a written policy regulating conflict of interest, and dealing with potential conflict situations for members of 

the Board of Directors, executive management and shareholders, including misuse of the Company's assets and 

facilities, and misconduct resulting from dealings with related parties. 

- Ensure the integrity of the accounting financial systems, including those related to the preparation of financial 

reports. 

- Ensure the application of appropriate control systems to mitigate risks, by defining the general perception of the 

risks that the Company may encounter and presenting them in a transparent manner. 

- Annual review of the effectiveness of the Company's internal control procedures. 

- Preparing and approving the Company's authority matrix. 

 

• Establishing a corporate governance system, in line with the Companies laws and Company’s bylaws.  

• Develop clear and specific policies, standards and procedures for membership in the Board of Directors and put 

them into practice after approval by the General Assembly. 

 

• Develop a written policy to organize the relationship with stakeholders in order to protect them and preserve their 

rights. This policy should specifically cover the following: 

- Mechanisms for compensating stakeholders, in the event of a violation of their rights, which are recognized by the 

regulations and protected by contracts. 

- Mechanisms for settling complaints or disputes that may arise between the Company and stakeholders. 

- Appropriate mechanisms for establishing good relations with customers and suppliers and maintaining the 

confidentiality of information related to them. 
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- Professional conduct Policy for managers and employees of the Company, in order to comply with sound professional 

and ethical standards and regulate the relationship between them and stakeholders, provided that the Board of 

Directors establish mechanisms to monitor the application and adherence to these rules. 

 

• Develop policies and procedures that ensure the Company's respect for laws and regulations and its obligation to 

disclose significant information to shareholders, creditors and stakeholders. 

 

3.7 Composition of the Board of Directors and classification of its members and meetings 

 
According to Article (17) of the company’s Bylaw, the Board of Directors is composed of six members, which is in accordance 

with Paragraph (a) of Article (17) of the Corporate Governance Regulations. The Ordinary General Assembly, held on April 

1, 2021, elected the members of the Board of Directors for the current session based on the list of candidates. The Board 

of Directors members were elected using the cumulative voting system. Their meetings during the year 2022 were as 

follows: 

 

 

 

  

# Name 

Number of meetings in 2022: 4 meetings 

Nature of 

membership 

Meeting st1 

29/03/2022 

Meeting nd2 

05/09/2022 

Meeting rd3 

31/10/2022 

Meeting th4 

25/12/2022 

 %of 

attendance 

1. Eng. Abdallah Abdulrahman Al-Obeikan Non-Executive     100% 

2. Yazeed Khalid Al-shathre Independent X    75% 

3. Abdulaziz Saleh Al-Rebdi Independent     100% 

4. Omran Abdulrahman Al-Obeikan Non-Executive     100% 

5. Turki Mohammed Albaiz Independent     100% 

6. Ahmed Abdulaziz Alhakbani Independent     100% 
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4.7 Names of current and previous companies, bodies and legal entities in which the member is 

a member of their boards of directors or managers 

1) Eng. Abdallah Abdulrahman Al-Obeikan (Chairman) 

Eng. Abdallah Al-Obeikan holds a Bachelor’s degree in Electrical Engineering from King Saud University in the Kingdom 

of Saudi Arabia in 1986. 

 

 

Names of companies, establishments and entities Period Place Legal form 

VP at the Saudi Arabian Industrial Investments Company - Dussur Current Inside KSA Closed Joint Stock 

Member of the Board of Directors of Obeikan Investment Company Current Inside KSA Closed Joint Stock 

Chairman of the Board of Directors of Al-Obeikan AGC  Current Inside KSA 
Mixed Limited 

Liability 

Member of the Board of Directors of the Arabian Shield Insurance Company Current Inside KSA Public Joint Stock 

Member of the Board of Directors of the National Water Company Current Inside KSA Closed Joint Stock 

Member of the Board of Directors of SIG Combiblock Current Inside KSA Closed Joint Stock 

Member of the Board of Directors of Social Development Bank Current Inside KSA Government entity 

Member of the Board of Directors of the Saudi Authority for Industrial Cities and 

Technology Zones - MODON 
Current Inside KSA Government Entity 

Member of the Board of Directors at the National Industrial Development Center Current Inside KSA Government Entity 

Member of the Board of Directors of Yamama Cement Company Current Inside KSA Public Joint Stock 

Member of the Board of Directors of the Sulaiman Al-Rajhi Foundation Current Inside KSA Charity Organization 

Member of the Board of Directors of Omran Assoc. Current Inside KSA Charity Organization 

Member of the Board of Directors of Abdul Rahman Bin Thunayan Al Obeikan 

Foundation 
Current Inside KSA Charity Organization 

Member of the Board of Directors of Saudi Business Center Current Inside KSA Government Entity 

Member of the Board of Directors of the Technical and Vocational Training 

Corporation 
Previously Inside KSA 

Government 

Institution 

Member of the Board of Directors at the General Authority of Customs Previously Inside KSA Government entity 

Member of the Board of Directors of the Industrial Council Previously Inside KSA Government entity 
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2) Mr. Yazeed Khalid Al-Shathri (Deputy Chairman) 

Mr. Yazeed Khalid Al-Shathri holds a Bachelor’s degree in Human Resource Management from Dar Al-Uloom University 

in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia in 2018. 

 

 

  

Names of companies, establishments and entities Period Place Legal form 

Chairman of the Board of Directors of Tabuk Cement Current Inside KSA Public Joint Stock 

Chairman of the Executive Committee at Tabuk Cement Current Inside KSA Public Joint Stock 

Member of the Governance Committee at Tabuk Cement Current Inside KSA Public Joint Stock 

Member of the Executive Committee at Deutsche Gulf Finance Previously Inside KSA Closed Joint Stock 

Chairman of the Credit and Risk Committee at Deutsche Gulf Finance Previously Inside KSA Closed Joint Stock 

Chairman of the Investment Committee of the Saudi Advanced Industries Company Previously Inside KSA Public Joint Stock 

Chairman of the Nomination & Renumerations Committee at the Saudi Advanced 

Industries Company 
Previously Inside KSA Public Joint Stock 

Several positions at Khalid Al-Shathri institution Previously Inside KSA Institution 

Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Saudi Advanced Industries Company Previously Inside KSA Public Joint Stock 

Deputy Chairman of the Board of Directors at the Saudi Advanced Industries Company Previously Inside KSA Public Joint Stock 

Deputy Chairman of the Board of Directors at Deutsche Gulf Finance Previously Inside KSA Closed Joint Stock 



  

 
 

 

Annual Report of 2022- Obeikan Glass Company 29 

 

3) Mr. Abdulaziz Saleh Al-Rebdi (Director) 

Mr. Abdulaziz Al-Rabadi received Bachelor’s degree in Industrial management from King Fahd University of Petroleum 

and Minerals, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia in 1985. 

 

 

  

Names of companies, establishments and entities Period Place Legal form 

Chairman of the Board of Directors at the National Agricultural Development 

Company (NADEC) 
Current Inside KSA Public Joint Stock 

Member of the Board of Directors of the Saudi Investment Recycling Company Current Inside KSA Closed Joint Stock 

Chairman of the Board of Directors at Naseej Telecom and Information Technology Current Inside KSA Closed Joint Stock 

General Manager of Abdulaziz Saleh Al-Rebdi Financial Consulting Office Current Inside KSA Single Establishment 

Member of the investment committee in the Saudi Investment Recycling Company Current Inside KSA Closed Joint Stock 

Member of the Investment Committee of the Saudi Agricultural and Livestock 

Investment Company (SALIC). 
Previously Inside KSA Closed Joint Stock 

Member of the Audit Committee at Abdullah Al-Othaim Markets Company Previously Inside KSA Public Joint Stock 

Member of the Board of Directors of Abdullah Al-Othaim Markets Company Previously Inside KSA Public Joint Stock 

Member of the Audit Committee at Abdul Mohsen Al Hokair Group for Tourism and 

Development 
Previously Inside KSA Public Joint Stock 

Member of the Nominations and Remunerations Committee at Abdul Mohsin Al 

Hokair Group for Tourism and Development 
Previously Inside KSA Public Joint Stock 

  Member of the Board of Directors of the Saudi Company for Agricultural 

Investment and Livestock Production (SALIC) 
Previously Inside KSA Closed Joint Stock 

 Member of the Board of Directors of Al Hammadi Company for Development and 

Investment 
Previously Inside KSA Public Joint Stock 

 Member of the Board of Directors of Takween Advanced Industries Previously Inside KSA Public Joint Stock 

 Member of the Board of Directors of the Saudi United Cooperative Insurance 

Company (Walaa) 
Previously Inside KSA Public Joint Stock 

Managing Director of the National Agricultural Development Company (NADEC) Previously Inside KSA Public Joint Stock 

General Manager of L'azurde Company Previously Inside KSA Public Joint Stock 

Head of the Credit Unit of the Saudi Industrial Development Fund Previously Inside KSA Governmental Entity 
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4) Mr. Omran Abdulrahman Al-Obeikan (Director) 

Mr. Omran Al-Obeikan holds a Master's degree in Science - Packaging Technology from Rochester College of Technology 

in the United States of America in 1996. He also obtained a Bachelor's degree in Education from King Saud University in 

the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia in 1992. 

 

 

  

Names of companies, establishments and entities Period Place Legal form 

Member of the Board of Directors of Obeikan Investment Group Current Inside KSA Closed Joint-Stock 

Member of the Board of Directors of Obeikan AGC Glass Company Current Inside KSA 
Mixed Limited 

Liability Company 

Member of the Board of Directors, Obeikan Printing and Packaging Company Current Inside KSA Closed Joint-Stock 

Executive Vice President at Obeikan Investment Group Current Inside KSA Closed Joint-Stock 

  Member of the Board of Directors of Obeikan Ello Pack Previously Inside KSA Closed Joint-Stock 

Member of the Board of Directors of Obeikan SIG Combibloc Previously Inside KSA Closed Joint-Stock 

  General Manager at Obeikan Elo Pack Previously Inside KSA Closed Joint-Stock 

Deputy General Manager at Obeikan Printing and Packaging Company Previously Inside KSA Closed Joint-Stock 

  Marketing and Sales Manager at Obeikan Printing & Packaging Company Previously Inside KSA Closed Joint-Stock 
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5) Mr.Turki Mohammed Albaiz (Director) 

Mr.Turki Mohammed Albaiz holds a Bachelor’s degree in Management Information Systems from King Faisal University 

in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia in 2001. 

  

 

  

Names of companies, establishments and entities Period Place Legal form 

Chairman of the Board of Directors at Ijarah Current Inside KSA Closed Joint-Stock 

Chairman of the Board of Directors at the Saudi company for the registration of 

financing lease contracts 
Current Inside KSA Closed Joint-Stock 

Member of the Board of Directors at the Arab Food and Dairy Factories Fadico Current Inside KSA Closed Joint-Stock 

  Member of the Board of Directors of Adeem Financial Company Current Inside KSA Closed Joint-Stock 

Member of the Board of Directors of the Saudi Company for Advanced Industries Previously Inside KSA Public Joint-Stock 

Member of the Board of Directors of Ekal Human Resources Previously Inside KSA Closed Joint-Stock 
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6) Mr. Ahmed Abdulaziz Alhakbani (Director) 

Mr. Ahmed Alhakbani holds a Master’s degree in Business Administration from INSEAD University in France in 2009. He 

also obtained a Bachelor's degree in Information Systems from King Saud University, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, in 2000. 

 

 

Names of companies, establishments and entities Period Place Legal form 

Member of the Board of Directors at Communications, Space & Technology 

Commission 
Current Inside KSA Governmental Entity 

Member of the Board of Directors at The Nuclear and Radiological Regulatory 

Commission of Saudi Arabia 
Current Inside KSA Governmental Entity 

Member of the Board of trustees and the executive committee at the National 

Museum 
Current Inside KSA Governmental Entity 

Member of the Board at the Special Integrated Logistics Zones Current Inside KSA Governmental Entity 

Vice-Chairman of the Advisory Board of the Supreme Council of the Arab Gulf States 

and head of the Saudi delegation 
Current Inside KSA Governmental Entity 

Chairman of the Board of Directors at Uptown Jeddah Company Current Inside KSA Closed Joint-Stock 

Member of the Board of Directors and Chairman of the Nominations and Remunerations 

Committee and member of the executive committee at the General Organization for Saudi 

Arabian Airlines 

Current Inside KSA Governmental Entity 

Chairman of the Board of Directors at My Family Meal Company Current Inside KSA Closed Joint-Stock 

Member of the Board of Directors, co-founder and CEO of Simplified Financial 

Solutions Company 
Current Inside KSA Closed Joint-Stock 

Member of the Board of Directors and Chairman of the Nominations and 

Remunerations Committee at ACWA power Company 
Current Inside KSA Public Joint-Stock 

Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors at Azm Saudi Company for Information 

Technology 
Current Inside KSA Closed Joint-Stock 

Member of the Board of Directors, Chairman of the Nominations and Remunerations 

Committee, and Member of the Executive Committee at the Local Content and Government 

Procurement Authority 

Previously Inside KSA 
Government 

Authority 

Chairman of the Board of Directors, Chairman of the Nominations and Remuneration 

Committee, and Chairman of the Executive Committee at the King Fahd Causeway Public 

Corporation 

Previously Inside KSA Governmental Entity 

Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chairman of the Executive Committee at 

the Saudi Company for Electronic Information Exchange - Exchange 
Previously Inside KSA Closed Joint-Stock 

Member of the Board of Directors and a member of the Nominations and 

Remuneration Committee at Flyadeal Airlines 
Previously Inside KSA Limited Liability 

Member of the Board of Directors, Chairman of the Privatization Committee and 

Chairman of the Engineering Committee at the General Authority of Customs 
Previously Inside KSA 

Government 

Authority 

Member of the Board of Directors and member of the Executive Committee at the 

Food and Drug General Authority 
Previously Inside KSA 

Government 

Authority 

Member of the Board of Directors and member of the Nominations and 

Remunerations Committee in the General Authority of Ports 
Previously Inside KSA 

Government 

Authority 
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Names of companies, establishments and entities Period Place Legal form 

Member of the Board of Directors and a member of the Nominations and 

Remunerations Committee in the National Gas and Industrialization Company 
Previously Inside KSA Public Joint-Stock 

Member of the Board of Directors of the Natural Gas Distribution Company Previously Inside KSA closed joint-stock 

Governor of the General Authority of Customs Previously Inside KSA 
Government 

Authority 

Undersecretary for Foreign Trade and General Supervisor of Foreign Trade Offices 

at the Ministry of Foreign Affairs 
Previously Inside KSA Government Ministry 

Secretary General and member of the Board of Directors of the Export 

Development Authority 
Previously Inside KSA 

Government 

Authority 

General Supervisor of Information Technology and General Manager of the 

Ministry's Strategy Development Project at the Ministry of Foreign Affairs 
Previously Inside KSA Government Ministry 

Advisor to the Undersecretary for Planning and Information Technology at the 

Ministry of Education 
Previously Inside KSA Government Ministry 

Business Development Manager for the Economic Cities Project at Cisco Systems Previously Inside KSA Public Joint-Stock 

Project Manager at the e-Governmental Program - Yesser Previously Inside KSA 
Government 

Program 

Director of Technical Relations at Microsoft Previously Inside KSA Public Joint-Stock 
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5.7 Board Committees 

1) Audit Committee 

The Audit Committee undertakes several tasks to ensure the independent evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal 

control system and to ensure confidence in the company’s financial statements. The committee’s responsibilities and 

powers include the following: 

 

- Verification of accounting estimates in the material issues contained in the financial reports. 

- Studying the accounting policies followed in the company and expressing an opinion and recommendation to the 

Board of Directors in this regard. 

- Studying and reviewing the company's internal and financial control and risk management systems. 

- Control and supervision of the performance and activities of the internal auditor and the internal audit 

department in the company. 

- Recommending the Board of Directors to nominate and dismiss auditors, determine their fees and evaluate their 

performance after verifying their independence and reviewing the scope of their work and the terms of their 

contract. Reviewing the company’s auditor’s plan and business, expressing its views in this regard, and answering 

his inquiries. 

- Studying the auditor's report and his notes on the financial statements and following up on what was taken in their 

regard. 

- Reviewing the results of the reports of the regulatory authorities and verifying that the company has taken the 

necessary measures in this regard. 

- Verifying the company's compliance with the relevant laws, regulations, policies and instructions. 

- Reviewing the contracts and transactions proposed to be conducted by the company with related parties, and 

presenting its views in this regard to the Board of Directors. 

- Submitting the issues it deems necessary to the Board of Directors for actions and expressing its 

recommendations. 

 

Highlights on the activities of the Committee during 2022: 

 

Financial Statements 

 

- Studying the interim and annual financial statements prepared by the company's management. 

Internal Audit 

 

- Recommending the appointment of an internal auditor for the company and appointing him in the second quarter 

of 2022. 

- Supervising the company's internal audit activity and approving the annual risk-based audit plan. 
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External Auditor 

 

- Recommend to the Board of Directors the nomination of the external auditor of the company and review its plan 

and work. 

- Examining the external auditor’s report and the management letter, which includes any observations on the 

internal control systems. 

Compliance and risk management 

 

- Follow-up of the zakat status with the management of the company periodically. 

- Reviewing the regulations and matrix of authority of the various committees and submitting them to the Board 

of Directors for approval. 

- Proposing various recommendations for follow-up by the company's management and improve the company's 

financial performance. 

- Reviewing the periodic reports of the internal audit, including the most important observations and following up 

on corrective measures, in order to enhance the internal control environment in the company, noting that the 

management is responsible for designing and implementing the internal controls and the internal control system 

in the company and makes continuous improvements to raise the efficiency and effectiveness of the internal 

control system 

 

The results of the annual audit of the effectiveness of the company's internal control procedures, in addition to the 

audit committee's opinion on the adequacy of the company's internal control system: 

The internal audits did not show a fundamental weakness in the internal control system, in addition to the absence of any 

deficiencies in the internal control system and that the company's policies and procedures are appropriate. 

 

Formation of the Audit Committee and the most important works and activities it carried out during 2022: 

The Company’s Audit Committee held six meetings during 2022, to implement the tasks entrusted to it, as follows: 

 

 

 

# Name 

Nature of 

membership 

Number of meetings in 2022: 6 meetings 

Meeting st1 

13-1-2022 

Meeting nd2 

6-3-2022 

Meeting rd3 

28-3-2022 

Meeting  th4 

29-6-2022 

Meeting  th5 

21-8-2022 

Meeting  th6 

26-10-2022 

 %of 

attendance 

1.  Mr.Abdulaziz Saleh Al-Rebdi Chairman       100% 

2.  
Eng. Saeed Al-Moeather 
 (Member From outside the Board) 

Member       100% 

3.  
Mr. Abdulrahman Althunayan 
(Member From outside the Board) 

Member       100% 
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Names of the members of the Audit Committee, their current and previous positions, qualifications and expertise: 

 

Mr. Abdelaziz’s details were previously presented under item 4.7. As for the other members, their details are as follows: 

 

1) Eng. Saeed Abdallah Al-Moeather (Audit committee Member From outside the Board) 

 

Eng. Saeed Abdallah Al-Moeather holds a master’s degree in Chemical Engineering from Dalhousie University in Canada 

in 2009. He also obtained a Bachelor's degree in Chemical Engineering from King Saud University in Saudi Arabia in 

1999. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Names of companies, establishments and entities Period Place Legal form 

CEO of the Saudi Advanced Industries Company Previously Inside KSA Public Joint-Stock 

Member of the Board of Directors of Al-Obeikan AGC Glass Company Previously Inside KSA 
Limited Liability 

Company 

Multiple positions in the Saudi Basic Industries Corporation (SABIC) Previously Inside KSA Public Joint-Stock 

Member of the Board of Directors, Member of the Executive Committee and 

Member of the Nominations and Remunerations Committee at Deutsche Gulf 

Finance 

Previously Inside KSA Closed Joint-Stock 

Member of the Board of Directors, Member of the Audit Committee, and Member of 

the Nominations and Remunerations Committee at  Alsalam Aerospace Industries 
Previously Inside KSA 

Limited Liability 

Company 

Member of the Board of Directors at Obeikan Glass Company Previously Inside KSA Public Joint-Stock 

Executive Vice President and Director of Investment and Business Development 

Department at the Saudi Company for Advanced Industries 
Previously Inside KSA Public Joint-Stock 
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2) Mr. Abdulrahman Althunayan (Audit committee Member From outside the Board) 

 

Mr. Abdulrahman Althunayan obtained a master’s degree in total quality and performance management from the 

University of Bradford in the United Kingdom in 2005. He also obtained a bachelor’s degree in education from King 

Saud University in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia in 2002. 

 

 

 

  

Names of companies, establishments and entities Period Place Legal form 

Vice President of Customer Experience at Etihad Telecom Current Inside KSA Public Joint-Stock 

General Manager of Customer Experience at the National Water Company Previously Inside KSA Closed Joint-Stock 

Director of Operations and Regions Support Department at Saudi Telecom 

Company 
Previously Inside KSA Public Joint-Stock 

Executive Director of Senior Customer Services Accounts Department at Etihad 

Etisalat Company 
Previously Inside KSA Public Joint-Stock 

Sales Manager for the Central Region for Small and Medium Enterprises at Etihad 

Etisalat Company 
Previously Inside KSA Public Joint-Stock 

Senior customer account manager for the commercial sector at the Saudi Mobile 

Telecommunications Company 
Previously Inside KSA Public Joint-Stock 

Customer Service Support Specialist at Saudi Mobile Telecommunications Company Previously Inside KSA Public Joint-Stock 

Quality Assurance Specialist at CSC Arabia Ltd Previously Inside KSA 
Limited Liability 

Company 

Supervisor at Obeikan Bookstores Company Previously Inside KSA Closed Joint-Stock 
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2) Nomination and Remuneration Committee 

The Nominations and Remunerations Committee is concerned with preparing policies and criteria for membership in the 

Board of Directors and its committees and the Executive Management. This Committee also conducts an annual review of 

the necessary needs for skills or appropriate expertise for membership in the Board of Directors and committees 

emanating from the Board of Directors and executive management functions. It also prepares a policy for the 

remuneration of members of the Board of Directors and the committees emanating from the Board and the Executive 

Management and periodically reviewing them, and prepares special procedures in case the position of a member of the 

Board of Directors or senior executives becomes vacant. The Committee also reviews the structure of the Board of 

Directors and committees emanating from the Board of Directors and the Executive Management, and verify Annually of 

the independence of the independent members, and the absence of any conflict of interest. Among the committee’s 

competencies are supervising the development of a clear strategy for governance, reviewing documents related to 

company governance, reviewing the rules of professional conduct that represent the company’s values and development, 

and evaluating human resources programs. Highlights of the achievements of the committee during 2022: 

 

- Approving the code of conduct plan and the ethics committee charter. 

- Preparing the human resources strategy. 

- Approving Key performance indicators and bonuses for the year 2022. 

 

 

One of the tasks of the Nominations and Remunerations Committee is to annually identify the weaknesses and strengths 

of the Board of Directors, and to propose correction methods in line with the interests of the company. The Board also 

evaluates and follows up on the work of its committees through periodic follow-up reports at each Board meeting. 

 

Formation of the Nominations and Remunerations Committee and the most important works and activities it carried out 

during 2022: 

The Company’s Nominations and Remunerations Committee held six meetings during 2022, to implement the tasks 

entrusted to it, as follows: 

 

*Mr, Abdallah Obaid Alharbi joined the committee on 15-6-2022 

 

 

 

 Name م

Nature of 

membership 

Number of meetings in 2022: 6 meetings 

1st Meeting 

31-1-2022 

2nd  Meeting 

28-3-2022 

3rd  Meeting 

26-6-2022 

4th  Meeting 

22-8-2022 

5th  Meeting 

9-10-2022 

6th  Meeting 

21-12-2022 

% of 

attendance 

1.  Mr.Ahmed Abdulaziz Alhakbani Chairman       100%  

2.  Mr.Turki Mohammed Albaiz 
Deputy 

Chairman       100%  

3.  Mr.Omran Abdulrahman Al-Obeikan Member  X   X    67%  

4.  
Mr, Abdallah Obaid Alharbi * 
(Member From outside the Board) 

Member - -     67%  



  

 
 

 

Annual Report of 2022- Obeikan Glass Company 39 

 

Names of the members of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, their current and previous positions, 

qualifications and expertise: 

 

All Member’s details were previously presented under item 4.7. As for Mr, Abdallah Obaid Alharbi, his details are as follows: 

 

1) Mr. Abdallah Obaid Alharbi (member of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee from outside the board of directors) 

 

Mr. Abdullah Al-Harbi obtained a diploma in air traffic control from the Institute of Civil Aviation. He also obtained a 

Managers Diploma from the Samba Group Academy in partnership with Citibank. 

 

 

  

Names of companies, establishments and entities Period Place Legal form 

Chief Human Resources Manager at Obeikan Investment Group Current Inside KSA Closed Joint-Stock 

Member of the Board of Directors at the Riyadh Polytechnic Institution Current Inside KSA Governmental Entity 

Several positions in Obeikan Investment Group Previously Inside KSA Stock-JointClosed  

Regional Director for the Western and Southern Region in Samba Financial Group Previously Inside KSA Public Joint-Stock 
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6.7 Executive Management 

 

 

  

  

  

 

  

Eng. Fayez Jameel Abdulrazzaq 

Chief Executive Officer 

Eng. Nedal Ahmad Eshgi 

General Manager 

Mr. Ahmed Mohieldin Houchaimi 

Marketing and Sales Director 

Mr. Muhammad Abdul Nabi Shaaban 

Chief Financial Officer 
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7.7 Information on the Executive Management 

1) Eng. Fayez Jameel Saleh Abdulrazzaq (CEO) 

Eng. Fayez Abdulrazzaq holds a Bachelor’s degree in Chemical Engineering from King Fahd University of Petroleum and 

Minerals, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia in 1987. 

 

Names of companies, establishments and entities Period Place Legal form 

CEO of Obeikan Glass Company Current Inside KSA listed joint-stock 

Member of the Board of Directors of AGC Glass Company Current Inside KSA 
Limited Liability 

Company 

Operations Manager at Saudi Aramco Mobil Refinery Company Ltd. “SAMREF” Former Inside KSA Public Joint Stock 

 

2) Eng. Nedal Ahmad Eshgi (General Manager) 

Eng. Nedal Eshgi holds a Bachelor’s degree in Mechanical Engineering from Metropolitan University in the United 

States of America in 1986. 

 

3) Mr. Ahmed Mohieldin Houchaimi (Marketing and Sales Director) 

Mr. Ahmed Houchaimi holds an MBA from the Lebanese American University in Lebanon in 1998. He also obtained a 

Bachelor's degree in Business Administration from Beirut University College, Lebanon, in 1992. 

 

Names of companies, establishments and entities Period Place Legal form 

General Manager of Obeikan Glass Company Current Inside KSA listed joint-stock 

Deputy Director of Operations and Maintenance at the National Petrochemical 

Industries Company “NATPET” 
Former Inside KSA closed joint-stock 

Operations Manager at Saudi Aramco Mobil Refinery Company Ltd. “SAMREF” Former Inside KSA 
Limited Liability 

Company 

Names of companies, establishments and entities Period Place Legal form 

Director of Marketing and Sales Department at Obeikan Glass Company Current Inside KSA listed joint-stock 

Director of Marketing and Sales Department at United Industrial Investments 

Company - Univest 
Former Inside KSA 

Limited Liability 

Company 

Marketing Director and General Manager of Marketing and Sales at Al Watania 

Paper Industries 
Former Inside KSA closed joint-stock 
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4) Mr. Muhammad Abdul Nabi Shaaban (Chief Financial Officer) 

Mr. Mohamed Abdelnaby holds a Bachelor's degree in Commerce from Zagazig University in Egypt in 2005. 

 

 

  

Names of companies, establishments and entities Period  Place  Legal form  

CFO at Obeikan Glass Company Current Inside KSA listed joint-stock 

Chief Accountant at Obeikan Glass Company Former Inside KSA listed joint-stock 

Senior Accountant at Kandil Industries Company Former Outside KSA 
Limited Liability 

Company 
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8. Remunerations, compensation and benefits of the Board Members 

 

The Policy for the remuneration for members of the Board of Directors and its committees and the remuneration of the 

executive management is in line with the Bylaws and the nominations and remunerations committee charter, which were 

approved in the ordinary general assembly. And it is in accordance with the Companies Law and the rules and regulations 

of the Corporate Governance Regulations issued by the Board of the Capital Market Authority. 

 

The policy sets the criteria on which the remuneration of the members of the Board, its committees, and the executive 

management are based, including the necessity of consistency with the Company's strategy and objectives. The rewards 

are provided to motivate the members of the board and the executive management for the Company's success and long-

term development. Rewards are determined based on tasks, responsibilities, educational qualifications, work experience, 

skills and level of performance. 

 

The rewards include allowances for attending meetings or lump sums, with the possibility of combining these benefits in 

accordance with the requirements of the Companies Law and the Company's bylaws. 

 

The tables below show the remuneration paid to the members of the Board of Directors, its committees and the executive 

management during 2022: 
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Remuneration and compensation of members of the Board of Directors and its Committees (SAR) 

Total 

(SAR) 

Committee membership 
Board of Directors 

membership 

Members 
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Non-Executive Members 

208,000 --- --- --- --- 208,000 8,000 200,000 Chairman Abdallah A. Al-Obeikan  

216,000 58,000 8,000 50,000 

Nomination 

and 

Remuneration 

Committee 

158,000 8,000 150,000 Director Omran A. Al-Obeikan 

Independent Members 

156,000 --- --- --- --- 156,000 6,000 150,000 
Deputy 

chairman 
Yazeed K. Alshathre 

270,000 112,000 12,000 100,000 

Chairman of 

Audit 

Committee 

158,000 8,000 150,000 Director Abdulaziz S. Al-Rebdi 

245,000 87,000 12,000 75,000 

Chairman of 

Nomination 

and 

Remuneration 

Committee 

158,000 8,000 150,000 Director Ahmed A. Alhakbani 

220,000 62,000 12,000 50,000 

Nomination 

and 

Remuneration 

Committee 

158,000 8,000 150,000 Director Turki M. Albaiz 

Committee Members from outside the Board 

112,000 112,000 12,000 100,000 
Audit 

Committee 
--- --- --- --- Eng.Saeed A.Almoeather 

112,000 112,000 12,000 100,000 
Audit 

Committee 
--- --- --- --- Abdulrahman Althunayan 

35,083 35,083 8,000 27,083 

Nomination 

and 

Remuneration 

Committee 

--- --- --- --- Abdallah O. Alharbi 

1,574,083         Total (Saudi Riyal) 

 

* The rewards mentioned in the above table for the period from 1-January-2022 to 31-December-2022. 
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9. Compensations and Remuneration of Senior Executives 
 

Compensation for 5 Senior Executives (includes CEO and CFO)  *  

F
ix

e
d

 R
e

w
ar

d
s 

(S
A

R
)

 

Salaries 3,532,551 

Allowances 1,236,396 

In-kind benefits ― 

Total 4,768,947 

V
ar

ia
b

le
 R

e
w

ar
d

s 
(S

A
R

)
 

Regular Rewards ― 

Profits ― 

Short Term Incentive Plans 1,641,655 

Long Term Incentive Plans ― 

Granted Shares ― 

Total 1,641,655 

End of Service Bonus 4,276,357 

Grand Total (SAR) 10,686,959 

 

* The Company has committed to disclose the remuneration of senior executives in total in accordance with the regulatory requirements set out in item (b) of Paragraph (4) 

of Article (90) of the Corporate Governance Regulations, but to protect the interests of the Company, its shareholders and its employees and to avoid causing any harm that 

may result from disclosure as per the designations and title, the details are now presented as set out in Annex (1) related to the Senior Executives of the Corporate 

Governance Regulations. 
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10. Ownership of the Board Members and Senior Executives 

 

Shares owned by board members and senior executives 

 

# Name Designation 
Shares as at beginning 

of year 2022 

Shares as at end of 

year 2022 
Net Change 

1. Eng. Abdallah Abdulrahman Al-Obeikan Chairman 130,088 130,088 0% 

2. Omran Abdulrahman Al-Obeikan Board Member 98,745 98,745 0% 

3. Abdulaziz Saleh Al-Rebdi Board Member 126,000 126,000 0% 

 

 

  



  

 
 

 

Annual Report of 2022- Obeikan Glass Company 47 

11. Description of the Relationship Between the Company and Related Parties 

 

The Company’s conflict of interest policy addresses the cases of potential conflict of interests of Board Members, Executive 

Directors and Shareholders. The General Assembly shall be informed of any possible conflict of interest for the purpose of 

approval. During 2022, and within the framework of its usual activity, Obeikan Glass Company has carried out the following 

transactions with related parties as shown in the following table (as clarified in the audited financial statements for the 

year 2022, and it will be presented to the next General Assembly for approval): 

 

Details of stakeholders and relationship in the Board of Directors: 

Eng. Abdallah A. Al-Obeikan as the Chairman of the Board of Directors of Obeikan Glass Company and Mr. Omran 

Abdulrahman Al-Obeikan as a Board Member of Obeikan Glass Company where they have direct / indirect ownership 

in the following companies: 

 

- Obeikan Investment Company 

- Obeikan Digital Solutions Company 

- Obeikan for Education Company 

- Obeikan AGC Glass Company 

- Saned Al Marafiq Company  

- Al Obeikan Technical Fabrics Company 

- Madar Digital Logistics Solution Company 

 

Eng. Abdallah A. Al Obeikan also holds the position of Chairman of the Board of Directors of Al-Obeikan AGC Glass 

Company, and Mr. Omran Obeikan holds the position of a member of the Board of Directors of Al-Obeikan AGC Glass 

Company, and they are representatives of Obeikan Investment Company, which owns 18.6% of Obeikan AGC.. 
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The following schedule shows the amounts due to/from related parties at the end of 2022: 

 

*All the works mentioned in the above table are within the normal course of business and no preferential benefits have been granted to any party . 
 

 

  

Related Party Details of Transaction* 
Value 

(Saudi Riyal) 

Details of Transaction* 

(Saudi Riyal) 

Due to Related Party 

Obeikan Investment Company 

Customs clearance services, consulting, 

accounting software services, and 

 Employee Payroll Services Software 
1,233,055 1,233,055 

Obeikan Digital Solutions Company 
Services & Consultation of Digitalization 

Software 
448,019 448,019 

Obeikan for Education Company 
Services & Consultation of Robot 

software 311,348 311,348 

Obeikan AGC Glass Company Glass Purchase 139,285 139,285 

Madar Digital Logistics Solution 

Company 
Shipping Services 4,513,783 4,513,783 

Obeikan Printing & Packaging 

Company 
Purchase of packaging materials 71,875 71,875 

Due from related party 

Obeikan AGC Glass Company 

Glass Sales 77,914,799 

88,836,290 
Shared services (land rent, 

warehouses, shipping and other 

services) 
10,921,491 

Saned Al Marafiq Company Expenses paid in advance 91,822 91,822 
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12. Dividend Policy 

 

Based on Article (9) of the Companies Governance Regulations and related paragraphs, Article (47) of the Company’s 

Bylaws addressed the distribution of the company’s net profits as follows: 

 

- The Company shall set aside 10% of the net profits as a statutory reserve. The Shareholders' Annual General 

Meeting may stop this reserve if it reaches an amount equivalent to thirty percent (30%) of the Company's capital. 

- The Ordinary General Assembly, based on the proposal of the Board of Directors, may set aside an equal percentage 

of the net profits to form a consensual reserve to be allocated for the purposes determined by the Assembly. 

- The Ordinary General Assembly may decide to form other reserves, to the extent that achieves the interest of the 

company or ensures the distribution of fixed profits for the company as much as possible to the shareholders. 

- After that, a percentage representing (5%) of the company's paid-in capital shall be distributed to the 

shareholders. 

 

The Ordinary General Assembly held on 29/10/1443 (corresponding to 30/05/2022) agreed to authorize the Board of 

Directors to distribute interim dividends on a semi-annual or quarterly basis for the fiscal year 2022, in the event that 

the company achieved satisfactory results in line with the regulatory controls and procedures. On 09/02/1444 

(corresponding to 05/09/2022), the Board of Directors decided, based on the Assembly’s authorization, to distribute 

cash dividends for the first half of the year 2022, to shareholders at the rate of 2 (Two) Riyal per share with total amount 

of (48,000,000) Saudi Riyals. The dividends were distributed during the month of September 2022. 
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13. General Assemblies 

 

A statement of the dates of the general assemblies of shareholders held during the last fiscal year and the names of the 

members of the board of directors attending these assemblies: 

 

# Name 

Number of Meetings (2)  

Ordinary General Meeting 

06/02/2022 

Extraordinary General Meeting 

30/05/2022 

1.  Eng. Abdullah Abdulrahman Al-Obeikan    

2.  Yazeed Khalid Al-Shathri Didn’t Attend  

3.  Abdulaziz Saleh Al-Rebdi   

4.  Omran Abdulrahman Al-Obeikan  Didn’t Attend  

5.  Turki Mohammed Albaiz Didn’t Attend Didn’t Attend 

6.  Ahmed Abdulaziz Alhakbani Didn’t Attend Apologized 
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14. Number of the company's Requests of The Shareholders' Registry, Dates and 

reasons thereof 

 

The company requested the shareholders' registry 7 times during 2022 as follows: 

 

Number of the company's request of the 

shareholders' registry 
Request Date Request Reasons  

(1)  11/12/2022 Company’s procedures 

(2)   21/08/2022 Company’s procedures 

(3)   30/05/2022 General Assembly 

(4)   16/05/2022 Company’s procedures 

(5)   03/04/2022 Other 

(6)   13/03/2022 Company’s procedures 

(7)  08/03/2022 Other 
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15. Social Responsibility Programs 

 

As the Company is keen to play an active role in society, the Company joined the membership of the Yanbu Voluntary 

Emergency Committee “Yama”, which includes in its membership several government agencies and industrial companies 

operating in the city of Yanbu. The Company is working on participating in other programs that fall under the social 

responsibility. 

 

Also, based on Obeikan Glass’s keenness to play an active role in the society, the Company studied the programs that it can 

contribute to, the most prominent of which are the cooperative training programs, which aim to raise the efficiency of 

national resources in the business sector, public administrations, finance, business development, investment and 

engineering. A number of university and institute students were trained during 2022. 

 

In order to attract competencies, Obeikan Glass participated in the 2022 Job Fair, which was organized by both Yanbu 

College of Applied Technology and the Technical College for Girls in Yanbu. 
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16. The company's commitment to what is stated in the indicative form in 

preparing the report of the Board of Directors issued by the Capital Market 

Authority 

 

a. Does the Company subject to any penalty, fine, precautionary measure or restriction imposed by the Authority 

or any supervisory, regulatory or judicial authority? 

There is no fine or penalty imposed against the company. 

 

b. Recommendations of the Audit Committee has conflict of interests with the decisions of the Board of Directors 

or which the Board has refused to accept regarding the appointment and dismissal of the company’s auditor, 

determining his fees, evaluating his performance, or appointing the internal auditor and the justifications for 

those recommendations and the reasons for not taking them into account: 

There is no conflict between the recommendations of the Audit Committee and the decisions of the Board of 

Directors, and no recommendation has been rejected by the Board. 

 

c. Clarification of any difference from the accounting standards approved by the Saudi Organization for Certified 

Public Accountants (SOCPA): 

There is no difference. 

 

d. A description of any interest in the class of shares entitled to vote for persons (other than members of the 

company’s board of directors, senior executives and their relatives) who have informed the company of those 

rights under Article 85 of the registration and listing rules, and any change in those rights during the last fiscal 

year: 

There is no interest. 

 

e. A description of any interest, contractual securities and subscription rights belonging to the members of the 

company’s board of directors, senior executives and their relatives) in the shares or debt instruments of the 

company or any of its subsidiaries, and any change in those rights during the last fiscal year: 

There is no interest. 
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f. Description of the classes and numbers of any convertible debt instruments and any contractual securities, 

memoranda of subscription right or similar rights issued or granted by the company during the fiscal year: 

Nothing. 

 

g. A description of any transfer or subscription rights under convertible debt instruments or contractual securities, 

or subscription right memoranda, or similar rights issued or granted by the company: 

No. 

 

h. A description of any redemption, purchase or cancellation by the Company of any redeemable debt instruments, 

and the value of the remaining securities, distinguishing between the listed securities purchased by the 

Company, and those purchased by the affiliate: 

No. 

 

i. Information related to any business or contracts in which the company is a party or in which a member, senior 

executive or any other related party has an interest including the names of those involved in the business or 

contracts, the nature of such business or contracts, their conditions, duration and amount: 

No. 

 

j. A statement of any arrangement or agreement under which a member of the company’s board of directors or 

a senior executive has waived any remuneration: 

No. 

 

k. A statement of any arrangement or agreement under which a shareholder of the company has waived any rights 

to profits: 

No 

 

l. A statement of the value of any investments or reserves established for the benefit of the company's employees: 

No. 

 

m. If the auditor’s report contains reservations on the annual financial statements, the report of the board of 

directors shall clarify those reservations, their reasons and any information related to them: 

There are no reservations on the annual financial statements. 
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n. In the event that the Board of Directors recommends to change the auditor before the end of the period for 

which it is appointed, the report shall state that in addition to the reasons of the change.  

There are no recommendations. 

 

o. Disclosure of details of the treasury shares held by the company and details of the uses of these shares: 

No. 

 

p. Clarify the relationship between the rewards granted and the applicable rewards policy, and that any material 

deviation from this policy: 

There is no material deviation from the applicable bonus policy. 

 

q. Details of the policy related to remuneration, the mechanisms for its determination, amounts and cash and kind 

remuneration paid to each member of the Board of Directors for any works, executive, technical, administrative 

or advisory positions: 

There is no business, executive, technical, administrative or advisory positions for the members of the Board of 

Directors, and there are no policies related to that. 

 

r. Actions taken by the Board of Directors to inform its members - especially non-executives - of the shareholders' 

proposals and comments regarding the company and its performance: 

No suggestions or comments were received from the shareholders during 2021 AD, and the comments or 

suggestions received during the company’s general assembly are recorded in the minutes of the assembly and 

viewed by the stakeholders. In the event that there are observations outside the General Assembly, the Board of 

Directors shall be notified of them during its meeting, and this shall be documented in the minutes of the meeting. 
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17. Declarations of the Board of Directors 

 

The company during 2022, and declares that: 

 

- There are no shares or debt instruments owned. 

- There is no fundamental conflict of interest during 2022. 

- We did not receive a request from the shareholders owning 5% or more of the company's capital to invite the 

General Assembly to convene during 2022. 

- We did not receive a request from the external auditors to invite the General Assembly to convene during 2022. 

- We did not receive any recommendations or comments from shareholders about the company and its 

performance. 

- There are no procedures that may obstruct the shareholders' right to vote. 

- There are no material events that affect the company's financial position after the end of the fiscal year 2022, that 

require disclosure, other than the information already available and disclosed. 

- The company did not provide loans or credit facilities to any member of the Board of Directors. 

- The accounting records were prepared and updated properly. 

- The internal control system has been developed based on sound foundations. 

- There are no significant doubts about the ability of Obeikan Glass Company to continue its activities. 
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18. Recommendations to the General Assembly 

 

After reviewing the most important operational and financial activities for the fiscal year 2022, we are pleased to attach 

the financial statements with the auditors’ report (Appendix A), and the Board of Directors proposes to the shareholders 

that the General Assembly approve its report, the financial statements and the auditors’ report . 

 

The General Assembly’s  venue, date, and any other items on the agenda will be announced at a later date. 
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19. Conclusion 

 

At the end of our report, the Board of Directors of Obeikan Glass Company is pleased to thank the shareholders for their 

trust and continuous support to the company. We also extend our thanks to the company's management and employees 

for their fruitful efforts. 

 

Regards , 

Board of Directors 

March 2022 
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20. Annex (A) Financial Statement 2022 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Shareholders of Al Obeikan Glass Company 

Opinion   

We have audited the financial statements of Al Obeikan Glass Company (“the Company”), which comprise the 
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, the statements of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, changes in equity, and of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 
financial statements, comprising significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Company as at 31 December 2022, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) that are endorsed in the 
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and other standards and pronouncements issued by the Saudi Organization for 
Chartered and Professional Accountants (SOCPA). 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing that are endorsed in the 
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the 
Company in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including 
International Independence Standards), that is endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, that are relevant to 
our audit of the financial statements, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
the Code’s requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit 
of the financial statements of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 

financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion 
on these matters. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Shareholders of Al Obeikan Glass Company 
Revenue Recognition 

Refer to note 3.1 for the accounting policy of the revenue recognition and note 18 for the disclosure of 
contracts with customers. 

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit 

 
During the year ended 31 December 2022, revenue 
from sales amounting to SR 502 million (31 
December 2021 SR  463 million) was recognized. 
 
Revenue from sale is recognized when a customer 
obtains controls of the goods and it is achieved upon 
acceptance and delivery of the goods to the 
customer and issuance of a sales invoice in 
accordance with the requirements of IFRS 15, 
Revenue from contracts with customers.  
 
Revenue is a key indicator for measuring 
performance, and this implies the presence of 
inherent risks to overstate revenue recognition to 
increase profitability and earnings. Therefore, 
revenue recognition was considered a key audit 
matter.  
 
 
 

Our audit procedures in this area included, among 
others: 
 

• Assessed the appropriateness of the Company's 
accounting policies by considering the relevant 
requirement of the accounting standards  

 

• Assessed the design and implementation and 
tested the operating effectiveness of the 
Company’s controls on a sample basis, including 
anti-fraud control, over the recognition of 
revenue as per the Company’s policy. 
 

• Inspected sales transactions, on a sample basis, 
taking place on either side of the year-end to 
assess whether revenue was recognized in the 
correct accounting period  
 

• Selected, on a sample basis, revenue 
transactions and checked the related supporting 
documents to check the accuracy of revenue 
recognition. 
 

• Checked the adequacy of disclosures in the 
financial statements as required by IFRS 15. 

Other Matter Relating to the Comparative Information 

The financial statements of the Company as at and for the year ended 31 December 2021 were audited by 
another auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those financial statements on 17 April 2022. 

Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report but does not include the  financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 
The annual report is expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditor’s report. 
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the  financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated.  
 
When we read the annual report, when made available to us, if we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance.  
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Shareholders of Al Obeikan Glass Company (continued) 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the  financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS that are endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and other standards and 
pronouncements issued by SOCPA, the applicable requirements of the Regulations for Companies and 
Company’s By-laws and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of  financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance, Board of Directors, are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial 
reporting process. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. ‘Reasonable assurance’ is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with International Standards on Auditing that are endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.  
 
As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing that are endorsed in the Kingdom 
of Saudi Arabia, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the 
audit. We also: 
 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management.  

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, then we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report 
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Shareholders of Al Obeikan Glass Company (continued) 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued) 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit of Al Obeikan Glass Company. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that 
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate 
threats or safeguards applied. 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were 
of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key 
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not 
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be 
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

KPMG Professional Services 

_______________________ 
Nasser Ahmed Al Shutairy 
License No. 454 

Jeddah, 28 March 2023 
Corresponding to 6 Ramadan 1444H 
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____________________ ____________________ ____________________ 
Chairman Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer 

 
The accompanying notes 1 to 35 form an integral part of these financial statements. 

 Notes 2022  2021 
ASSETS     
Non-current assets     
Property, plant and equipment 4 367,532,557   385,884,601  
Right of use assets 5 22,408,565   28,039,847  
Financial asset at fair value through other 
comprehensive Income  
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3,091,047  

  
16,699,510 

Total non-current assets  393,032,169   430,623,958 
     
Current assets     
Inventories 7  94,768,801       36,712,785  
Trade receivables 8  109,834,387  89,640,979 
Prepayments and other receivables 9  10,540,077   11,044,795 
Due from a related party 10  49,320,802   50,658,766 
Cash and cash equivalents 11  26,552,006   112,238,660 
Total current assets   291,016,073  300,295,985 
       
TOTAL ASSETS  684,048,242  730,919,943 
     
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES     
EQUITY     
Share capital 12 240,000,000  240,000,000 
Statutory reserve 13 36,862,472  19,097,698 
Fair value reserve 6  635,203   14,243,666 
Retained earnings  258,366,991  144,471,766 
Total equity  535,864,666  417,813,130 
     
Non-current liabilities     
Loan and borrowings 14 --  108,500,000  
Lease liabilities 5  22,032,970   27,784,323  
Employee end of service benefits 15  19,202,822   19,180,339  
Total non-current liabilities         41,235,792    155,464,662 
     
Current liabilities     
Loans and borrowings 14  62,311,954   95,902,327  
Lease liabilities 5   2,451,430      1,955,696  
Trade payable   14,233,303   27,451,732  
Due to related parties 10  1,329,001   1,366,109  
Accrued and other liabilities 16 21,269,918  26,351,042  
Zakat 17 5,352,178  4,615,245  
Total current liabilities  106,947,784  157,642,151 
Total liabilities  148,183,576  313,106,813 
     
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES       684,048,242  730,919,943 
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 Notes  2022  2021 

      
Revenue 18   502,179,542    463,236,025  
Cost of revenue 19  (245,984,128)  (211,788,045) 
Gross profit    256,195,414  251,447,980  
      
Other operating income 20  2,248,889  2,718,189 
Other operating expense        21  (868,909)  (3,183,634) 
Selling and distribution  expenses 22   (40,472,485)   (46,248,803) 
General and administrative expenses   23   (22,531,265)   (18,458,877) 
Impairment loss on trade receivable 8   (5,388,166)  (508,609) 
Operating profit   189,183,478   185,766,246  
 
Finance cost - net                                                                      24  

 
(4,816,611) 

  
 (6,102,475) 

      
Profit before zakat   184,366,867   179,663,771  

      
Zakat expense  17  (6,719,127)   (5,982,191) 
Net profit for the year   177,647,740   173,681,580  

      
Other comprehensive (loss) / income: 
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit 
or loss:      
Remeasurement of employee end of service benefits 15  2,012,259  (3,023) 
Equity investments at FVOCI - net change in fair value 6  (13,608,463)  404,596 
Other comprehensive (loss) / income for the year   (11,596,204)  401,573 
      
Total comprehensive income for the year   166,051,536   174,083,153  

      
Earnings per share      
Basic and diluted earnings per share (in SR) 25  7.40  7.24 

      
   
 
 
 
   

____________________ ____________________ ____________________ 
Chairman Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer 

 
 
 

The accompanying notes 1 to 35 form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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____________________ ____________________ ____________________ 
Chairman Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer 

 

The accompanying notes 1 to 35 form an integral part of these financial statement. 

 

 Share 
capital 

Statutory 
reserve 

Fair value 
reserve 

Retained 
earnings Total 

      
Balance at 1 January 2021  240,000,000 1,729,540 13,839,070 12,161,367 267,729,977 
      
Total comprehensive income for the 
year      
Net profit for the year -- -- --  173,681,580   173,681,580  
Other comprehensive income -- -- 404,596 (3,023)   401,573  
Total comprehensive income for the 
year  -- -- 404,596 173,678,557  174,083,153  
      
Transfer to statutory reserve (note 13) -- 17,368,158 -- (17,368,158) -- 
      
Transactions with the owners of the 
Company:      
Dividend (note 12) -- -- -- (24,000,000) (24,000,000) 
      
Balance at 31 December 2021 240,000,000 19,097,698 14,243,666 144,471,766 417,813,130 
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____________________ ____________________ ____________________ 
Chairman Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer 

 
 

The accompanying notes 1 to 35 form an integral part of these financial statement. 
 
 

 Share 
capital 

Statutory 
reserve 

Fair value 
reserve 

Retained 
earnings Total 

      
Balance at 1 January 2022  240,000,000 19,097,698 14,243,666 144,471,766 417,813,130 
      
Total comprehensive income for the 
year      
Net profit for the year -- -- -- 177,647,740 177,647,740 
Other comprehensive income -- -- (13,608,463) 2,012,259 (11,596,204) 
Total comprehensive income for the 
year  -- -- (13,608,463) 179,659,999 166,051,536 
      
Transfer to statutory reserve (note 13) -- 17,764,774 -- (17,764,774) -- 
      
Transaction with the owners of the 
Company:      
Dividend (note 12) -- -- -- (48,000,000)         (48,000,000) 
Balances at 31 December 2022  240,000,000 36,862,472 635,203 258,366,991 535,864,666 
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____________________ ____________________ ____________________ 
Chairman Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer 

 
The accompanying notes 1 to 35 form an integral part of these financial statements.

 Notes 2022 
  

2021 
Cash flow from operating activities     
Profit before Zakat  184,366,867  179,663,771 
     
Adjustments for:     

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 4 37,710,558   36,112,802  
Depreciation on right-of-use assets 5 1,239,557   1,274,539  
Charge for impairment loss  8 5,388,166  508,609 
Provision for slow moving and obsolete inventory 7 (285,005)  (291,923) 
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (17,856)   (58) 
Adjustment related to right of use asset  --  2,388,090 
Finance cost - net  24 4,816,611   6,102,475  
Provision for employee end of service benefits 15 2,259,942   2,118,051  
  235,478,840  227,876,356 

Changes in:     
     
  Inventories  (57,771,011)  4,448,321 
  Trade receivables  (25,581,574)  (41,828,688) 
  Prepayments and other receivables  504,718  (4,949,846) 
  Due from related party  1,337,964  (3,408,009) 
  Due to related parties  (37,108)  (5,658,022) 
  Trade payables  (13,218,429)  (3,235,237) 
  Accruals and other liabilities  (5,081,124)         7,819,165 
  Cash generated from operating activities  135,632,276  181,064,040 

     
Finance cost paid  (4,978,428)  (5,804,991) 
Finance cost received   500,000  -- 
Zakat paid  17 (5,982,194)  (2,938,952) 
Employee end of service benefits paid 15 (563,381)  (749,376) 
Net cash generated from operating activities  124,608,273  171,570,721 
     
Cash flow from investing activities     
Additions of property, plant and equipment  4 (19,373,038)  (14,191,751) 
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  32,378  6,332 
Net cash used in investing activities  (19,340,660)  (14,185,419) 

     
Cash flow from financing activities     
Proceeds from loans and borrowings 14 7,486,028  25,902,327 
Repayment for loans and borrowings 14 (149,576,401)  (52,505,000) 
Dividend paid 12 (48,000,000)  (24,000,000) 
Capital repayment of lease liabilities 32 (863,894)  (746,031) 
Net cash used in financing activities  (190,954,267)  (51,348,704) 
 
Net change in cash and cash equivalents  (85,686,654)  106,036,598 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period  112,238,660  6,202,062 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period 11 26,552,006  112,238,660 
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1. CORPORATE INFORMATION 

 

Al Obeikan Glass Company (the “Company”) is a Saudi joint stock company formed pursuant to the 

Ministerial Resolution No. 224/Q dated 27 Shaban 1428H (corresponding to 9 September 2007) and 

registered in Riyadh under Commercial Registration No. 1010241520 dated 30 Dhul-Qadah 1428H 

(corresponding to 10 December 2007). The company started its commercial activity on 1 July 2011. 

 

The registered address of the Company is P.O. Box 62807, Riyadh 11595, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. 

The Company's branch is located in Industrial Yanbu at Light Industrial Area. 

 

The Company is engaged in the wholesale of chemicals and the wholesale and retail sale of glass 

panels. The Company also carries out its activities through the branch registered with Commercial 

Register No. 4700010945 dated 9 Jumada Al-Ula 1429H (corresponding to May 14, 2008) issued in 

Yanbu city. The branch’s activity is represented in the operation of quarries, sand or gravel mines, 

including crushers, and the manufacturing of insulating glass used in construction. 

 

On 2 Shaban 1442H (corresponding to March 15, 2021), the Board of Directors of Obeikan Glass 

company decided to recommend to the General Assembly of the Company’s shareholders the 

registration and direct listing of the Company’s shares in the Parallel Market “Nomu”, after obtaining 

the necessary approvals from the Saudi Capital Market Authority and the Saudi Exchange Company 

“Tadawul”. Based on the Extraordinary General Assembly meeting held on Shaaban 19, 1442H 

(corresponding to April 1, 2021), the General Assembly voted unanimously and with 100% attendance 

on the registration and direct listing of the Company’s shares in Nomu. The Company obtained the 

approval of the Saudi Capital Market Authority on request of direct listing of the Company’s shares in 

the Nomu on 26 Dhu al-Qa’dah 1442H (corresponding to July 6, 2021), and obtained the Authority’s 

approval of the request to register the Company’s shares in Nomu on 26 Rabi’ al-Akhir 1443H 

(corresponding to 1 December 2021). 

 

On Jumada Al-Akhir 1443H (corresponding to January 17, 2022), the Registration Document was 

published and announced by the financial advisor on the Tadawul to make it available to qualified 

investors during the specified period in accordance with The Rules on the Offer of Securities and 

Continuing Obligations. Tadawul announced that the shares of the Company have been listed ready for 

trading in the Nomu starting on Rajab 6, 1443H (corresponding to February 7, 2022) as a direct listing 

with Tadawul ISIN 9531. 

 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 

 

2.1     Statement of Compliance 

 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting 

Standards (“IFRS”) as endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia (“KSA”) and other standards and 

pronouncements that are issued by the Saudi Organization for Chartered and Professional Accountants 

(“SOCPA”) (collectively referred to as “IFRS as endorsed in KSA”). 
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 

 

2.2     Basis of measurement 

 

The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention using the accruals basis of 

accounting and going concern concept, unless otherwise stated 

 

2.3     Functional and presentation currency 

 

The financial statements are presented in Saudi Arabian Riyals (SR), which is the Company’s 

functional currency and presentation currency. All financial information presented in SR, unless 

otherwise stated. 

 

2.4 Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 

 

The preparation of the Company’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, 

estimates, and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and 

liabilities, and the accompanying disclosures and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. 

 

These estimates and assumptions are based upon experience and various other factors that are believed 

to be reasonable under the circumstances and are used to judge the carrying values of assets and 

liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions 

are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in 

which the estimates are revised or in the revision period and future periods if the changed estimates 

affect both current and future periods. 

 

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 

reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 

assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below. The Company based its 

assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the financial statements were prepared. 

Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to 

market changes or circumstances arising beyond the control of the Company. Such changes are 

reflected in the assumptions when they occur. 

 

The key judgements, estimates, and assumptions that have a significant impact on the financial 

statements of the Company are discussed below: 

 

2.4.1 Judgements 

 

Going concern 

 

The Company’s management has made an assessment of its ability to continue as a going concern and 

is satisfied that it has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, 

management is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the 

Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the financial statements continue to be 

prepared on a going concern basis.  
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 

 

2.4 Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued) 

 

2.4.2 Estimates and assumptions 

 

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 

reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 

assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below. The Company based its 

assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the financial statements were prepared. 

Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to 

market changes or circumstances arising that are beyond the control of the Company. Such changes 

are reflected in the assumptions when they occur. Information about the assumptions and estimation 

uncertainties is included in the following areas: 

 

Useful lives and residual value of property and equipment 

 

The Company’s management determines the estimated useful lives of its property and equipment for 

calculating depreciation. These estimates are determined after considering the expected usage of the 

assets or physical wear and tear. The management believes that residual value may not result in 

significant change to depreciation charge and carrying amount of the assets. Accordingly, the residual 

value is assumed to be zero. Management reviews the residual value and useful lives annually, and 

future depreciation charges would be adjusted where the management believes the useful lives differ 

from previous estimates. 

 

Allowance for inventory losses 

 

The Company recognizes an allowance for inventory losses due to factors such as obsolescence, 

technical faults, physical damage etc. The estimation of such losses includes the consideration of 

factors including but not limited to introduction of new models or technology by the specific 

manufacturer and both existing and emerging market conditions. 

 

Provision for expected credit losses (ECL) of trade receivables 

 

The Company has selected a simplified approach for all trade receivables. The Company uses a 

provision matrix to calculate ECL for trade receivables. The provision matrix is initially based on the 

Company’s historical observed default rates. The Company calibrates the matrix to adjust the historical 

credit loss experience with forward-looking information. At every reporting date, the historical 

observed default rates are updated, and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.   

 

The assessment of the correlation between historically observed default rates, forecasted economic 

conditions and ECL is a significant estimate. The amount of ECL is sensitive to changes in 

circumstances of forecast economic conditions. The Company’s historical credit loss experience and 

forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of customers’ actual default in the 

future. The information about the ECL on the Company’s trade receivables is disclosed in note 8. 
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 

 

2.4 Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued) 

 

2.4.2 Estimates and assumptions (continued) 

 

 Employee end of service benefits 

 

The cost of the employee end of service benefits plan and the present value of the obligations are 

determined using actuarial valuations. An actuarial valuation involves making various assumptions 

that may differ from actual developments in the future. These include the determination of the discount 

rate, future salary increases, mortality rates, and employee turnover rate. Due to the complexities 

involved in the valuation and its long-term nature, a defined benefit obligation is highly sensitive to 

changes in these assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date.  

 

The parameter most subject to change is the discount rate. In determining the appropriate discount rate, 

management considers the market yield on high-quality Corporate/Government bonds. The mortality 

rate is based on publicly available mortality tables for the country. Those mortality tables tend to 

change only at intervals in response to demographic changes. Future salary increases are based on 

expected future inflation rates for the country. Further details about employees end of service benefits 

are provided in note 15. 

 

 Fair value measurement of financial instruments 

 

When the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in statement of financial 

position cannot be measured based on quoted prices in active markets, their fair value is measured 

using valuation techniques including the DCF model. The inputs to these models are taken from 

observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgement is required in 

establishing fair values. Judgements include considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk 

and volatility. Changes in assumptions relating to these factors could affect the reported fair value of 

financial instruments. Contingent consideration, resulting from business combinations, is valued at fair 

value at the acquisition date as part of the business combination. When the contingent consideration 

meets the definition of a financial liability, it is subsequently re-measured to fair value at each reporting 

date. The determination of the fair value is based on discounted cash flows. The key assumptions take 

into consideration the probability of meeting each performance target and the discount factor. 

 

 

  



AL OBEIKAN GLASS COMPANY 

(A Saudi Joint Stock Company) 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

For the year ended 31 December 2022 

(Expressed in Saudi Arabian Riyals, unless otherwise stated) 

 

14 

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

 

The Company has consistently applied the following accounting policies to all periods presented in 

these financial statements.  

 

3.1 Revenue recognition 

 

The Company recognizes revenue from contracts with customers based on a five-step model as set out 

in IFRS 15. 

 

Step 1: The Company accounts for a contract with a customer when: 

 

▪ The contract has been approved and the parties are committed; 

▪ Each party’s rights are identified; 

▪ Payment terms are defined; 

▪ The contract has commercial substance; and 

▪ Collection is probable. 

 

Step 2: The Company identify all promised goods or services in a contract and determines whether to 

account for each promised good or service as a separate performance obligation.  A good or service 

is distinct and is separated from other obligations in the contract if both:  

 

▪ the customer can benefit from the good or service separately or together with other resources that 

are readily available to the customer; and 

▪ the good or service is separately identifiable from the other goods or services in the contract. 

 

Step 3: The Company determine the transaction price, which is the amount of consideration it expects 

to be entitled to in exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer. 

 

Step 4: The transaction price in an arrangement is allocated to each separate performance obligation 

based on the relative standalone selling price of the good or service being provided to the customer. 

 

Step 5: Revenue is recognized when control of the goods or services is transferred to the customer. 

The Company transfers a good or service when the customer obtains control of that good or service. 

A customer obtains control of a good or service if it has the ability to direct the use of and receive the 

benefit from the good or service. 

 

Sale of goods 

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the point in time when control of the goods is 

transferred to the customers, generally on delivery of the goods. The Company’s revenue from sale of 

glass includes only one performance obligation, and there is no variable consideration and financing 

component involved.  
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

3.2 Foreign currencies 

 

The Company’s financial statements are presented in Saudi Riyals, which is also the Company’s 

functional currency. Foreign currency transactions are translated into Saudi Riyals at the rates of 

exchange prevailing at the time of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 

foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated into Saudi Riyals at the exchange rates prevailing 

at that date. Gains and losses from settlement and translation of foreign currency transactions are 

included in statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.  Non-monetary assets and 

liabilities that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated into the functional currency 

at the exchange rate when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured based 

on historical cost in a foreign currency are translated at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. 

Foreign currency differences are generally recognised in profit or loss and presented within finance 

costs. 

 

3.3 Employee end of service benefits  

 

The Employee end of service benefits provision is determined using the projected unit credit method, 

with actuarial valuations being carried out at the end of each reporting period. Remeasurements, 

comprising actuarial gains and losses, are reflected immediately in the statement of financial position 

with a charge or credit recognized in other comprehensive income in the period in which they occur. 

Remeasurements recognized in other comprehensive income are reflected immediately in retained 

earnings and will not be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods. Changes in the present 

value of the defined benefit obligation resulting from plan amendments or curtailments are recognized 

immediately in profit or loss as past service costs. Interest is calculated by applying the discount rate 

at the beginning of the period to the net defined benefit liability or asset. Defined benefit costs are 

categorized as follows:  

 

• service cost (including current service cost, past service cost, as well as gains and losses on 

curtailments and settlements);  

• interest expense; and  

• remeasurements 

 

The Company presents the first two components of defined benefit costs in profit or loss in relevant 

line items. Remeasurements are presented as part of other comprehensive income. 

 

Short-term employee benefits 

 

A liability is recognized for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual 

leave, air tickets and sick leave that are expected to be settled wholly within twelve months after the 

end of the period in which the employees render the related service. The liability is recorded at the 

undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for those services.  
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

3.4 Zakat 

 

The Company is subject to Zakat in accordance with the regulations of the Zakat, Tax and Customs 

Authority ("Authority" or "ZATCA"). Provision for zakat for the Company is charged to the statement 

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Additional amounts payable, if any, at the 

finalization of final assessments are accounted for in the period in which these are determined.  

 

The Company withhold taxes on transactions with non-resident parties and on dividends paid to foreign 

shareholders in accordance with ZATCA regulations, which is not recognized as an expense being the 

obligation of the counter party on whose behalf the amounts are withheld. 

 

Value added tax 

 

The Company is subject to Value Added Tax (“VAT”) in accordance with the VAT regulations 

prevailing in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. The amount of VAT liability is determined by applying 

the applicable tax rate to the value of supply (“Output VAT”) less VAT paid on purchases (“Input 

VAT”). The Company reports revenue and purchases net of VAT for all the periods presented in the 

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

 

3.5 Property, plant and equipment 

 

Recognition and measurement 

 

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 

impairment losses, if any. When spare parts are expected to be used during more than one period, then 

they are accounted for as property, plant and equipment.  

 

Cost includes the purchase price and any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location 

and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. The 

cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly 

attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended use, the costs of dismantling 

and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located and borrowing costs on 

qualifying assets. 

 

When significant parts of an item of property and equipment have different useful lives, they are 

accounted for as separate items (major components) of property and equipment. 

 

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing 

the proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment and are 

recognized net within other operating income in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 

income. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

3.5 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

 

Subsequent costs 

 

The cost of replacing a part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognized in the carrying 

amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will 

flow to the Company, and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part 

is derecognized. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognized 

in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as incurred. 

 

Capital work in progress 

 
Capital work-in-progress represents all costs relating directly and indirectly to the construction in 

progress and is capitalized as property and equipment when ready for the intended use 

 

Depreciation 

 

Depreciation represents the systematic allocation of the depreciable amount of an asset over its 

estimated useful life. Depreciable amount represents cost of an asset, or other amount substituted for 

cost, less its residual value. Depreciation is recognized in the statement of profit or loss on a straight-

line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of property and equipment. Leased 

assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives.  

 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at least annually and adjusted 

prospectively, if required. 

 

The estimated useful lives are as follows: 

  

Building 33 years 

Plant and machinery 15 to 20 years 

Equipment 5 years 

Furniture and fixtures 5 years 

Computers 4 years 

Motor vehicles 5 years 

 

Land and capital work in progress are not depreciated. 

 

Spare parts 

 

Items such as spare parts, stand-by equipment and servicing  equipment are recognised in accordance with 

IAS – 16 when they meet the definition of property, plant and equipment, including the requirement to 

be used over more than one period. Otherwise, such items are classified as inventory, as per IAS – 2. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

3.6 Impairment of non-financial assets 

 

The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. 

If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Company 

estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or 

CGU’s fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. It is determined for an individual asset, 

unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets 

or groups of assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset or cash generating unit (CGU) exceeds its 

recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. 

 

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a 

pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 

specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent market transactions are 

taken into account. If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used.  

 

The Company bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecasts which are prepared 

separately for each of the Company CGU to which the individual assets are allocated. These budgets 

and forecast calculations are generally covering a period of five years. A long-term growth rate is 

calculated and applied to project future cash flows after the fifth year. 

 

Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognized in the statement of profit or loss in those 

expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset. In this case, the impairment is 

also recognized in OCI up to the amount of any previous revaluation. 

 

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any 

indication that previously recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. 

If such indication exists, the Company estimates the asset’s or CGU’s recoverable amount. A 

previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions 

used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized. The 

reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor 

exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment 

loss been recognized for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognized in the statement of profit 

or loss  
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

3.7 Right-of-Use Assets and Lease Liabilities 

 

The Company assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the 

contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for 

consideration. 

 

Company as a lessee 

 

The Company applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-

term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Company recognizes lease liabilities to make lease 

payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets. 

 

Right-of-use assets  

 

The Company recognizes right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the 

underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated 

depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost 

of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognized, initial direct costs incurred, 

and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. 

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the 

estimated useful lives of the assets, as follows: 

 

Leasehold land (36 years) 

 

If the ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Company at the end of the lease term or the lessee 

is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful 

life of the asset. 

 

Lease liabilities  

 

At the commencement date of the lease, the Company recognizes lease liabilities measured at the 

present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed 

payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease 

payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value 

guarantees.  

 

The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be 

exercised by the Company and payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects 

the Company exercising the option to terminate. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an 

index or a rate are recognized as expenses (unless they are incurred to produce inventories) in the 

period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

3.7 Right-of-Use Assets and Lease Liabilities (continued) 

 

Lease liabilities  

 

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate at 

the lease commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. 

After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of 

interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities 

is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments 

(e.g., changes to future payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine such 

lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset. 

 

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets  

 
The Company applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of equipment 

(i.e., those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not 

contain a purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases 

of office equipment that are considered to be low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases 

of low-value assets are recognized as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

 

Incremental borrowing rate 

 

The Company cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its 

incremental borrowing rate (IBR) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the 

Company would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds 

necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic 

environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Company ‘would have to pay’, which requires 

estimation when no observable rates are available or when they need to be adjusted to reflect the terms 

and conditions of the lease. The Company estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as market 

interest rates) when available and is required to make certain entity-specific estimates. 

 

3.8 Inventory 

 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Costs of inventories are determined on 

a weighted average basis. Net realizable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less 

all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale. In the case of manufactured 

inventories, cost includes an appropriate share of production overheads based on normal operating 

capacity 

 

3.9 Cash and cash equivalents 

 

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and 

deposits held with banks, all of which are available for use by the Company unless otherwise stated 

and have maturities of 3 months or less, which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in values. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

3.10 Financial instruments 

 

The Company recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability in its statement of financial position 

when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  

 

At initial recognition, the Company recognizes a financial instrument at its fair value plus or minus, in 

the case of a financial instrument not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are 

directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial instrument.  

 

Financial assets  

IFRS 9 requires all financial assets to be classified and subsequently measured at either amortized cost 

or fair value. The classification depends on the business model for managing the financial asset and 

the contractual cash flow characteristics of financial asset, determined at the time of initial recognition.  

 

Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories under IFRS 9:  

 

• Debt instruments at amortized cost;  

• Debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI), with gains or losses 

recycled to profit or loss on derecognition;  

• Equity instruments at FVOCI, with no recycling of gains or losses to profit or loss on 

derecognition; and  

• Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss (FVPL).  

 

(a) Financial assets classified as amortized cost 

 

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortized cost less 

impairment loss (except for debt investments that are designated as at fair value through profit or loss 

on initial recognition): 

 

1. The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect 

contractual cash flows; and  

2. The contractual terms of the instrument give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

 

If a financial asset does not meet both of these conditions, it is measured at fair value.  

 

The Company makes an assessment of a business model at portfolio level as this best reflects the way 

the business is managed, and information is provided to management. In making an assessment of 

whether an asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect 

contractual cash flows, the Company considers:  
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

3.10 Financial instruments (continued) 

 

• Management’s stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies 

in practice;  

• The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within 

that business model) and, in particular, the way those risks are managed;  

• How management evaluates the performance of the portfolio;  

• Whether the management’s strategy focus on earning contractual commission income;  

• The degree of frequency of any expected asset sales;  

• The reason for any asset sales; and  

• Whether assets that are sold are held for an extended period of time relative to their contractual 

maturity or are sold shortly after acquisition or an extended time before maturity.  

 

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the 

Company will consider the contractual terms of the instrument. This will include assessing whether the 

financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash 

flows such that it would not meet this condition.  

 

Income is recognized on an effective interest basis for debt instruments measured subsequently at 

amortized cost. Interest is recognized in the income statement.  

 

Debt instruments that are subsequently measured at amortized cost are subject to impairment.  

 

(b) Financial assets designated as FVOCI with recycling  

 

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at FVOCI:  

 

• The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 

contractual cash flows and selling the financial assets; and  

• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 

solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.  

 

For debt financial instruments measured at FVOCI, commission income and impairment losses or 

reversals are recognized in statement of other comprehensive income and computed in the same manner 

as for financial assets measured at amortized cost. All other changes in the carrying amount of these 

instruments are recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated under the investment 

revaluation reserve. When these instruments are derecognized, the cumulative gains or losses 

previously recognized in other comprehensive income are reclassified to the statement of profit or loss.  
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

3.10 Financial instruments (continued) 

 

(c) Financial assets classified as FVPL  

 

Investments in equity instruments are classified as at FVPL, unless the Company designates an 

investment that is not held for trading as at FVOCI on initial recognition.  

 

Debt instruments that do not meet the amortized cost of FVOCI criteria are measured at FVPL. In 

addition, debt instruments that meet the amortized cost criteria but are designated as at FVPL to avoid 

accounting mismatch are measured at fair value through income statement. A debt instrument may be 

designated as at FVPL upon initial recognition if such designation eliminates or significantly reduces 

a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would arise from measuring assets or liabilities or 

recognizing the gains and losses on them on different bases.  

 

Debt instruments are reclassified from amortized cost to FVPL when the business model is changed 

such that the amortized cost criteria are no longer met. Reclassification of debt instruments that are 

designated as at FVPL on initial recognition is not allowed.  

 

Financial assets at FVPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any gains 

or losses arising on re-measurement recognized in income statement.  

 

Commission income on debt instruments at FVPL is included in the statement of profit or loss.  

 

Dividend income on investments in equity instruments at FVPL is recognized in statement of profit or 

loss when the Company’s right to receive the dividends is established.  

 

(d) Investment in equity instruments designated as FVOCI  

 

On initial recognition, the Company can make an irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument 

basis) to designate investments in equity instruments at FVOCI. Designation at FVOCI is not permitted 

if the equity investment is held for trading.  

 

A financial asset or financial liability is held for trading if:  

 

• It is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term;  

• On initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed 

together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or  

• It is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and 

effective hedging instrument).  

 

Investments in equity instruments at FVOCI are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. 

Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value 

recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in other reserves. Gain and losses on such 

equity instruments are never reclassified to income statement and no impairment is recognized in 

income statement. The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified to income statement on disposal 

of the investments.  
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

3.10 Financial instruments (continued) 

 

Dividends on these investments are recognized in statement of profit or loss when the Company’s right 

to receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the 

cost of the investment. 

 

Investment revaluation reserve includes the cumulative net change in fair value of equity investment 

measured at FVOCI. When such equity instruments are derecognized, the related cumulative amount 

in the fair value reserve is transferred to retained earnings. 

 

Impairment of financial assets  

 

The Company recognizes an allowance for expected credit losses (ECL) for all debt instruments not 

held at fair value through profit or loss. For trade receivables and contract assets, the Company applies 

a simplified approach in calculating ECL. Therefore, the Company does not track changes in credit 

risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at each reporting date. The 

Company has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, 

adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment. 

 

The Company considers a financial asset in default when is more than 360 days past due. However, in 

certain cases, the Company may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external 

information indicates that the Company is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in 

full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Company. A financial asset is 

written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows. 

 

The Company recognizes an impairment gain or loss in the statement of profit or loss for all financial 

instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance 

account, except for investments in debt instruments that are measured at FVOCI, for which the loss 

allowance is recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the investment revaluation 

reserve, and does not reduce the carrying amount of the financial asset in the statement of financial 

position. 

 

Derecognition of financial assets  

The Company derecognizes a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 

asset expire; or it transfers the financial asset or substantially all the risk and rewards of ownership to 

another entity. If the Company neither transfer nor retains substantially all the risks and reward of 

ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Company recognizes its retained interest 

in the asset and associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Company retains substantially 

all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Company continues to 

recognize the financial asset and also recognizes a collateralized borrowing for the proceeds received.  
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

3.10 Financial instruments (continued) 

 

Financial liabilities  

Financial liabilities carried at amortized cost have been classified and measured at amortized cost using 

the effective yield method.  

 

For financial liabilities that are designated as at FVPL, the amount of change in the fair value of the 

financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is recognized in other 

comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in 

other comprehensive income would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in income statement. 

Changes in fair value attributable to a financial liability’s credit risk are not subsequently reclassified 

to income statement.  

 

The liability credit reserve includes the cumulative changes in the fair value of the financial liabilities 

designated as at fair value through profit or loss that are attributable to changes in the credit risk of 

these liabilities and which would not create or enlarge accounting mismatch in income statement. 

Amount presented in liability credit reserve are not subsequently transferred to income statement. 

When such investments are derecognized, the related cumulative amount in the liability credit reserve 

is transferred to retained earnings.  

 

Derecognition of financial liabilities  

The Company derecognizes financial liabilities when, and only when, the Company’s obligations are 

discharged, cancelled or they expire. 

 

3.11 Borrowing costs 

 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, 

which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or 

sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their 

intended use or sale.  

 

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their 

expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalization. 

 

All other borrowing costs are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

3.12 Provisions 

 

Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result 

of a past event, it is probable that the Company will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable 

estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  

 

The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the 

present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties 

surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the 

present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (when the effect of the 

time value of money is material). When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the 

passage of time is recognized as a finance cost. 

 

3.13 Cost of revenue 

 

Cost of Revenue is the accumulated total of all costs used to create a product or service, which has 

been sold. These costs fall into the general sub-categories of materials, direct labor and overheads. 

 

In the statement of profit or loss presentation, the cost of revenue is subtracted from revenues to arrive 

at the gross profit of a business. Cost of revenue comprise all costs directly related to the sale of goods 

and rendering of services. It comprises the purchase and conversion of inventories and all other directly 

attributable costs, which are necessary to bring the products and/or services sold into the agreed 

condition. 

 

3.14 Selling, distribution, general and administration expenses 

 

Selling, distribution, general and administration expenses include direct and indirect costs not 

specifically part of ‘Cost of revenue’. Allocations between ‘Cost of revenue’ and ‘Selling, distribution, 

general and administration expenses’, when required, are made on a consistent basis. 

 

3.15 Cash dividend and non-cash distribution to equity holders of the parent 

 

The Company recognizes a liability to pay a dividend when the distribution is authorized, and the 

distribution is no longer at the discretion of the Company. As per the bye laws of the Company, a 

distribution is authorized when it is approved by the shareholders. A corresponding amount is 

recognized directly within equity. 

 

Non-cash distributions are measured at the fair value of the assets to be distributed with fair value re-

measurement recognized directly in equity. 

 

Upon distribution of non-cash assets, any difference between the carrying amount of the liability and 

the carrying amount of the assets distributed is recognized in the statement of profit or loss 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

3.16 Current versus non-current classification 

 

The Company presents assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position based on current / 

non-current classification. 

 

Assets 

 An asset is current when: 

• It is expected to be realized or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle; 

• It is held primarily for the purpose of trading; 

• It is expected to be realized within twelve months after the reporting period; or 

• It is cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for 

at least twelve months after the reporting period. 

 

All other assets are classified as non-current. 

 

Liabilities 
 A liability is current when: 

• It is expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle; 

• It is held primarily for the purpose of trading; 

• It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period; or 

• There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months 

after the reporting period. 

 

The terms of the liability that could, at the option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the 

issue of equity instruments do not affect its classification. The Company classifies all other liabilities 

as non-current.  

 

3.17 Operating profit  

 

Operating profit is the result generated from the continuing principal revenue-producing activities of 

the Company as well as other income and expenses related to operating activities. Operating profit 

excludes finance costs - net and zakat. 
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4. PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT 

 

 Buildings 
Plant and 
Machinery Equipment 

Furniture 
and fixtures Computers 

Motor 
vehicles 

Capital Work 
in progress Total 

         
Cost:         
Balance at 1 January 2021 102,428,993 645,441,852 12,779,782 2,337,828 3,955,054 1,672,272 15,868,585 784,484,366 
Additions during the year 1,287,878 5,027,242 1,950,234 328,731 633,527 340,231 4,623,908 14,191,751 
Disposals during the year (1500) -- -- (10,100) (10142) -- -- (21,742) 
Transfer during the year 1,087,397 4,877,678 79,776 - 382,531 -- (6,427,382) -- 
31 December 2021  104,802,768 655,346,772 14,809,792 2,656,459 4,960,970 2,012,503 14,065,111 798,654,375 
Additions during the year 399,266 3,022,878 2,386,798 346,699 649,677 187,000 12,380,720 19,373,038 
Disposals during the year -- (13,800) (5,228) -- -- (66,030) -- (85,058) 
Transfer during the year -- 3,683,228 144,342 -- -- -- (3,827,570) -- 
31 December 2022 105,202,034 662,039,078 17,335,704 3,003,158 5,610,647 2,133,473 22,618,261 817,942,355 

         
Accumulated Depreciation:         
Balance at 1 January 2021 19,987,499 340,557,506 9,184,129 2,270,797 3,491,575 1,180,934 -- 376,672,440 
Charge for the year 3,160,681 31,286,122 1,162,426 107,564 303,182 92,827 -- 36,112,802 
Disposals during the year (332) -- -- (10,100) (5,036) -- -- (15,468) 
31 December 2021 23,147,848 371,843,628 10,346,555 2,368,261 3,789,721 1,273,761 -- 412,769,774 
Charge for the year 3,214,544 32,177,528 1,548,968 138,110 479,338 152,070 -- 37,710,558 
Disposals during the year -- (5,445) (4,353) -- -- (60,736) -- (70,534) 
31 December 2022 26,362,392 404,015,711 11,891,170 2,506,371 4,269,059 1,365,095 -- 450,409,798 
         
Net book value:         
31 December 2022 78,839,642 258,023,367 5,444,534 496,787 1,341,588 768,378 22,618,261 367,532,557 

31 December 2021 81,654,920 283,503,144 4,463,237 288,298 1,171,249 738,742 14,065,111 385,884,601 

 
- The above property, machinery and equipment are built on land leased from the Royal Commission for Jubail and Yanbu under a contract with the Royal 

Commission from August 30, 2008 until August 30, 2042, and the contract can be renewed for an additional period or periods of years under the terms and 

conditions that may be agreed upon between the two parties. 
- Included within plant and machinery is an amount of SR 19.96 million (2021: SR 19.96 million) in respect of tin ingots.  The Company has not depreciated 

the tin ingots on the basis that these will retain value over the production cycle. 

- All property, plant and equipment are pledged for the benefit of the SIDF (Note 14). 

- Capital work in progress represents ongoing construction works of the plant and machinery and it is expected to be completed during 2023. 
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4. PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT (continue) 

 

Depreciation charged for the year is allocated as follows: 

 

 2022  2021 

    

Cost of Revenue 36,881,674  35,642,102 

General and administration expenses 812,990  441,296 

Selling and distribution expenses 15,894  29,404 

 37,710,558  36,112,802 

 

5. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES 

 

The Company has lease contracts (lease as a lessee) for leasehold land.  Leasehold land has lease term 

of 36 years. 

  

The Company also has certain leases of apartments and sales offices with lease terms of 12 months or 

less and with low value. The Company applies the ‘short-term lease’ and ‘lease of low-value assets’ 

recognition exemptions for these leases. 

 

a) Right-of-use assets: 

 

Set out below are the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recognized and the movements during  

the year: 

 

 2022  2021 

    

Balance as at 1 January  28,039,847  26,729,554 

Reassessment during the year (4,391,725)  2,584,832 

Depreciation charge for the year (1,239,557)  (1,274,539) 

Balance as at 31 December  22,408,565  28,039,847 

 

b) Lease liabilities: 

 

Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the movements during the year: 

 

  2022  2021 

    

Balance as at 1 January 29,740,019  25,513,128 

Reassessment during the year (4,391,725)  4,972,922 

Accretion of interest 1,558,870  1,676,733 

Payments during the year (2,422,764)  (2,422,764) 

Balance as at 31 December  24,484,400  29,740,019 
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5. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES (continued) 

 

Lease liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position as follows: 

 

 2022  2021 

    

Non-current portion of lease liabilities 22,032,970  27,784,323 

Current portion of lease liabilities 2,451,430  1,955,696 

Carrying amount at the end of the year 24,484,400  29,740,019 

 

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is as follows. 

 

 2022  2021 

    

Less than one year  2,023,182  2,422,764 

More than one year and less than 5 years  8,092,728  9,428,029 

More than 5 years  30,347,952  35,355,363 

 40,463,862  47,206,156 

 

The following are the amounts recognized in the statement of profit or loss: 

 

 2022  2021 

    

Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets 1,239,557  1,274,539 

Interest expense on lease liabilities 1,558,870  1,676,733 

Expense relating to short-term leases (included in selling and 

distribution expenses)  208,493  62,227 

Expense relating to short-term leases (included in general and 

administrative expenses)  253,411  260,000 

 

The Company has one lease contracts that include extension and termination options. These options 

are negotiated by management to provide flexibility in managing the leased-asset portfolio and align 

with the Company’s business needs. The Company had total cash outflows for leases of SR 2.7 million 

in 2022 (2021: SR 5.9  million) 
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6. FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THOUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

 

This investment in equity shares by 19% of Al Obeikan AGC Glass Company, a mixed Saudi limited 

liability company whose main activity is the manufacture of primary glass products and the 

manufacture of insulating glass items used in construction. The Company has irrevocably designated 

the investment at fair value through other comprehensive income on initial recognition as the 

Company's intention is to hold this investment for the long term for strategic purposes (refer note 30). 

 

 2022 2021 

Following is the change in FV of the investment at FVOCI:   

   

Balance at 1 January  16,699,510 16,294,914 

Change in FV during the year  (13,608,463) 404,596 

   

Balance at 31 December 3,091,047 16,699,510 

 

During the current year and prior year, there are no dividends or disposals or any transfers of any 

cumulative gain or loss within shareholders' equity relating to the investment. 

 

 2022 2021 

Following is the change in fair value reserve:   

   

Balance at 1 January  14,243,666 13,839,070 

Change in FV during the year  (13,608,463) 404,596 

   

Balance at 31 December 635,203 14,243,666 

 

7. INVENTORIES 

 

 2022 2021 

   

Raw materials 34,072,980 12,783,078 

Finished goods 15,820,219 10,147,065 

Spare parts and consumables 10,988,029 8,832,646 

Work-in-progress 6,623,514 5,439,451 

Packing materials 447,439 345,714 

Goods-in-transit 27,366,784 -- 

Provision for slow-moving inventory  (550,164) (835,169) 

   

 94,768,801 36,712,785 

7.1 Inventories recognized as expense during the year ended 31 December 2022 amounted to SR 

139.64 million (31 December 2021: SR 96.46) and included as cost of revenue. 

 

7.2 Inventory reversal amounting to SR 0.55 million (2021: SR 0.84 million) is recognized within cost 

of revenue. 
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7. INVENTORIES (continued) 

 

Movement in provision for slow-moving is as follows: 

 

 2022  2021 

    

Balance at beginning of the year 835,169  1,127,092 

Reversal during the year (285,005)  (291,923) 

    

Balance at end of the year 550,164  835,169 

 

8. TRADE RECEIVABLES 

 

Trade receivables comprise of the following: 

 

 2022  2021 

    

Trade receivable due from related party 77,157,944  39,791,855 

Other trade receivables 39,654,453  51,438,968 

 116,812,397  91,230,823 

    

Allowance for impairment loss (see below)  (6,978,010)  (1,589,844) 

 109,834,387  89,640,979 

 

Movement in the allowance for impairment loss is as follows:  

 

 2022  2021 

    

Balance at beginning of the year 1,589,844  1,081,235 

Charge for the year 5,388,166  668,515 

Reversal during the year --  (159,906) 

Balance at end of the year 6,978,010  1,589,844 

 

9. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

 

Prepayments and other receivables comprise of the following: 

 

 2022  2021 

    

Advance to supplier 9,780,273  7,359,477 

Prepaid rent and other assets  759,804  3,685,318 

    

 10,540,077  11,044,795 
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10. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES 

 

a) Related parties include the Company’s shareholders, associates and affiliates companies (entities controlled and jointly controlled, or significantly 

influenced by shareholders) and management personnel of the company. Terms and conditions of these transactions are approved by the company’ 

Board of Directors. All outstanding balances with these related parties are priced on mutually agreed terms. Significant related party transactions 

for the period / year and balance arising there from are described as under: 

 

Name of party Relationship 

  

Al Obeikan Group for Investment Company  Parent company 

Saudi Company for Advanced Industries Major shareholder 

Al Obeikan AGC Glass Associate of the Parent company 

Al Obeikan Flexible Plastic Factory Affiliate 

Al Obeikan Digital Solutions Company Affiliate 

Al Obeikan Technical Fabrics Company Affiliate 

Al Obeikan for Education Affiliate 

Madar Digital Logistics Solution Company Affiliate 

Saned Al Marafiq Company Affiliate 

 

b) Significant key management personnel transactions are as follows: 

 
   Amount of transactions Closing balance 

Name Relationship Nature of transactions 2022 2021 2022 2021 

       

Key management personnel Employees Short term benefits 4,710,771 4,038,679 1,392,251 1,301,665 

  Long term benefits 590,926 261,992 3,350,286 2,759,360 

       

Board of Directors Board of Directors Board of Directors’ remuneration – 

(short term benefits) 1,620,919 1,366,750 1,620,919 1,366,750 
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10. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES (continued) 

 

c) Significant related party transactions and balances arising are as follows: 

 
   Amount of transactions Closing balance 

Name Relationship Nature of transactions 2022 2021 2022 2021 

Due from related party – Trade receivables       

       

Al Obeikan AGC Glass Associate of the Parent 

Company Sales 77,914,799 49,217,772 77,157,944 39,791,855 

      

Due from related party       

Al Obeikan AGC Glass Associate of the Parent 

company 

Support Services  

10,921,491 9,534,913 49,320,802 50,658,766 

       

Prepayment and other receivables       

Saned Al-Marafiq Information 

Technologies Affiliate  Consulting and other services 91,822 -- 91,822 -- 

 

Due to related parties  
   Amount of transactions Closing balance 

Name Relationship Nature of transactions 2022 2021 2022 2021 

       

Al Obeikan Group for Investment 

Company Parent  Consulting and other services  1,233,055 8,230,689 85,475 1,126,080 

Al Obeikan Digital Solutions Company Affiliate  Consulting and other services 448,019 943,285 313,454 100,085 

Al Obeikan for Education Affiliate Consulting and other services 311,348 234,309 11,251 -- 

Al Obeikan Flexible Plastic Factory Affiliate  Purchase of packaging material  71,875 631,900 -- 94,530 

Al Obeikan AGC Glass Affiliate  Purchase of glass  139,285 136,937 84,468 -- 

Madar Digital Logistics Solution Affiliate  Consulting and other services 4,513,784 -- 834,353 -- 

Al Obeikan Technical Fabrics 

Company Affiliate Shared services -- -- 

                            

-- 45,414 

     1,329,001 1,366,109 

 

The balances due to and due from the related parties are interest free, unsecured and payable on demand. ECL amounting to SR 3.44 million 

relates to the related party. 
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11. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of the following: 

 

 2022 2021 

   

Cash at bank 26,552,006 112,238,660 

   

At each reporting date, all bank balances are assessed to have low credit risk as they are held with 

reputable and high credit rating domestic banking institutions (A3 to BAA1) and there has been no 

history of default with any of the Company’s bank balances. Therefore, the probability of default based 

on forward-looking factors and any loss given defaults are considered to be negligible. 

 

12. SHARE CAPITAL 

 

At 31 December 2022, the Company’s authorized, issued, and paid-up share capital is SR 240 million 

(31 December 2021: SR 240 million) consisting of 24 million (31 December 2021: 24 million shares) 

fully paid and issued shares of SR 10 each. 

 

Dividends  

 

The Board of Directors in its meeting held on 19 September 2021, approved a distribution of an interim 

cash dividend of SR 24 million (representing SR 1 per share) for the year ended 31 December 2021. 

 

The Board of Directors in its meeting held on 5 September 2022, approved a distribution of an interim 

cash dividend of SR 48 million (representing SR 2 per share) for the year ending 31 December 2022. 

 

13. STATUTORY RESERVE 

 

In accordance with the by-laws of the Company and Companies Law, the Company has transferred 

10% of its net income for the year to the statutory reserve. The Company may resolve to discontinue 

such transfers when the reserve totals 30% of the share capital. The minimum required statutory reserve 

is not available for distribution to the shareholders. 

 

14. LOANS AND BORROWINGS 

 

Loans and borrowings comprise of the following: 

 

 2022 2021 

   

Term loan – SIDF loan  58,500,000 178,500,000 

Short term borrowings 3,811,954 25,902,327 

Loan and borrowings as at 31 December  62,311,954 204,402,327 
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14. LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued) 

 

 2022 2021 
   

SIDF loans – long-term loan 58,500,000 178,500,000 

Less: Current portion of long-term borrowings (58,500,000) (70,000,000) 

Long term borrowings -- 108,500,000 

 

 2022 2021 

   

Opening balance 204,402,327 231,005,000 

Drawdown during the year 7,486,028 25,902,327 

Repayment during the year (149,576,401) (52,505,000) 

Closing balance 62,311,954 204,402,327 

   

Non-current portion of long-term borrowings -- 108,500,000 

Current portion of long-term borrowings 58,500,000 70,000,000 

Short term borrowings  3,811,954 25,902,327 

Total borrowings 62,311,954 204,402,327 

 

The agreement with SIDF is guaranteed by the shareholders of the Company. The loan is secured by a 

mortgage over the property, plant and equipment of the Company. 

 

The Company’s interest-bearing loans and borrowings, which are measured at amortized cost are as 

follows: 

 

 2022 2021 
   

Long-term bank loans 58,500,000 204,402,327 

Current portion of long-term bank loans (58,500,000) (95,902,327) 

Non-current portion of long-term bank loans -- 108,500,000 

 

SIDF loan – term loan  

 

On January 4, 2009, the Company obtained a loan from the Saudi Industrial Development Fund (the 

“SIDF”) for the purpose of financing the construction of Al Obeikan Glass Company factory. The 

ceiling of this loan amounted to a total of SR 229 million. On June 3, 2012, the loan ceiling was raised 

to cover the additional costs of the factory, so that the total loan value became SR 309.5 million. On 

October 8, 2020, the loan was restructured so that the last instalment to be repaid on August 2, 2023. 

A total amount of SR 161 million was repaid as of the statement of financial position date. This loan 

is secured by pledging the entire factory, its buildings, machinery, equipment and all of its accessories, 

which is located on the plot of land leased from the Royal Commission for Jubail and Yanbu for the 

benefit of the SIDF.  All the covenant has been complied with except for the CAPEX. However, the 

SIDF has not demanded the payment as at reporting period. 
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14. LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued) 

 

Short term borrowings 

 

The short-term loans represent Murabaha facilities for the purpose of purchasing raw materials used in 

the production of float glass that the Company obtained from the International Islamic Trade Finance 

Corporation (a member of the Islamic Development Bank) with total revolving facilities of SR 34 

million, i.e. that the amount of the facilities becomes available again after payment, and with a 

repayment period of 12 months from the date of withdrawal. These facilities are available until June 3, 

2023. These facilities are secured by a joint pledge with the same term loan mortgage given by the 

Saudi Industrial Development Fund. 

 

15. EMPLOYEES’ END OF SERVICE BENEFITS 

 
 2022  2021 

    

Balance at beginning of the year 19,180,339  17,511,157 

    

Included in statement of profit or loss    

Current service cost 2,259,942  2,118,051 

Interest cost 382,894  297,484 

 2,642,836  2,415,535 

    

Transfer out (44,713)  -- 

    

Paid during the year (563,381)  (749,376) 

    

Included in statement of other comprehensive income    

Actuarial (gains) / losses:    

Change in demographic assumptions (12,819)  -- 

Change in financial assumptions (3,244,129)  (581,499) 

Experience loss 1,244,689  584,522 
 (2,012,259)   3,023 

    

Balance at the end of the year 19,202,822  19,180,339 

 

Allocation of EOSB charge between the cost of revenue, selling and distribution expenses, and general 

and administrative expenses are as follows: 

 
 2022  2021 

    

Cost of revenue 1,024,383  960,066 

Selling and distribution expenses  215,678  202,137 

General and administrative expenses  1,019,881  955,848 

 2,259,942  2,118,051 
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15. EMPLOYEES’ END OF SERVICE BENEFITS (continued) 

 

The most recent actuarial valuation was performed by a qualified actuary and was performed using the 

projected unit credit method. 

 

The principal assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuation were as follows: 

 
 2022  2021 

 %  % 
    

Rate of salary increases 4.00%  4.00% 

Discount rate 4.60%  2.00% 

Mortality rate 
75% of WHO 

SA16 
 

75% of WHO 

SA16 

Retirement age 60 years  60 years 

 

All movements in employees end of service benefits are recognized in profit or loss, except for the 

results of re-measurement of employees end of service benefits that are recognized in the statement of 

other comprehensive income. 

 

Sensitivity analyses: 

The sensitivity analyses presented below have been determined based on reasonably possible changes 

of the respective assumptions occurring for the liability at the end of the reporting period, while holding 

all other assumptions constant.  

 

31 December 2022    

 Change in 

assumption by 

Increase in 

assumption by 

Decrease in 

assumption by 

    

Discount rate  0.5% 18,707,851 19,725,297 

Salary growth rate  0.5% 19,725,811 18,702,731 

Mortality rates  20% 19,197,733 19,207,935 

Employee turnover / withdrawal rates 20% 19,096,921 19,317,016 

 

31 December 2021    

 Change in 

assumption by 

Increase in 

assumption by 

Decrease in 

assumption by 

    

Discount rate  0.5% 18,567,057 19,833,825 

Salary growth rate  0.5% 19,817,695 18,575,673 

Mortality rates  20% 19,145,010 19,216,407 

Employee turnover / withdrawal rates 20% 19,145,010 19,216,407 

 

  



AL OBEIKAN GLASS COMPANY 

(A Saudi Joint Stock Company) 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   

For the year ended 31 December 2022 

(Expressed in Saudi Arabian Riyals, unless stated otherwise) 

 

39 

15. EMPLOYEES’ END OF SERVICE BENEFITS (continued) 

 

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 5 years. 

 

The following payments are expected for the defined benefit plan in future years: 

 
 2022 2021 

   

Within the next 12 months (next annual reporting period) 6,085,823 5,091,413 

Between 2 and 5 years 6,389,933 5,109,204 

Between 6 and 10 years 6,621,407 6,167,821 

Beyond 10 years 6,092,346 5,657,029 

 25,189,509 22,025,467 

 

16. ACCRUED AND OTHER LIABILITIES 

 

 2022 2021 

   

Advances from customers (refer note 16.1) 6,115,639 9,296,709 

Accrued electricity (refer note 16.2) 5,925,550 5,600,000 

Accrued finance charges 606,707 1,228,208 

Accrued VAT  1,164,102 884,217 

Other accruals (refer note 16.3) 7,457,920 9,341,908 

   

 21,269,918 26,351,042 

  

16.1 The advances from customer primarily relate to the advance received from customers for goods, 

for which revenue is recognised point in time. The amount of revenue recognized during the year form 

the advances amounts to SR 9.53 million (2021: SR 6.37) 

 

16.2 The accrued electricity charge represents claimed amounts of SR 10.16 million from the Power, 

Water, and Utility Company for Jubail and Yanbu “Marafiq Company” for electricity and water supply 

services. An amount of SR 5.6 million of the claim value was recognized during the year ended on 31 

December 2021, and the remaining amount of the claim amounting to SR 4.56 million was recognized 

during the year ended on 31 December 2022 after reaching an agreement with Marafiq on 8 March 

2022 to pay the full amount of the claim through equal monthly instalments, the value of each 

instalment is SR 0.42 million, starting from the month of March 2022. 

 

16.3 Other accruals majorly includes the employee bonus, freight cost and other accruals.   
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17. ZAKAT 

 

a) Charge for the period 

 

Zakat for the year ended comprise the following: 

 

 2022  2021 

    

Charge for the year 6,719,127  5,982,191 

 

The provision for Zakat charge is based on the following: 

 

  2022 2021 

    

Equity  355,569,464 241,729,540 

Provisions and other adjustments  108,581,271 198,345,543 

Book value of long-term assets (net of related financing)  (389,941,122) (385,884,601) 

Zakat base  74,209,613 54,190,482 

    

Zakat on Zakat base @ 2.5776%  1,912,889 1,396,157 

    

Adjust profit for the year  192,249,515 183,441,339 

    

Zakat on adjusted profit @ 2.5%  4,806,238 4,586,033 

    

Zakat charge for the  year  6,719,127 5,982,191 

    

- Zakat is calculated based on the adjusted net profit and the zakat base. 

- Zakat is calculated from the adjusted net profit at 2.5⁒, while the zakat base is calculated from the 

zakat base less the adjusted net profit at 2.57768⁒ and 2.5⁒ from the adjusted net profit. 

 

Adjusted net profit for the year 

 

The adjusted net profit or the year reconciliation is as follows: 

 

  2022 2021 

    
Net profit for the year  184,366,867 180,332,286 

Other deductions  (148,354) 203,700 

Provision for the year  8,031,002 2,877,353 

Adjusted net profit for the year  192,249,515 183,413,339 
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17. ACCRUED ZAKAT (continued) 

 

b) Zakat 

 

The movement in the Zakat during the year is analyzed as under: 

 

 2022  2021 

    

Balance at the beginning of the year 4,615,245  1,572,006 

Charge for the year 6,719,127  5,982,191 

Payments during the year (5,982,194)  (2,938,952) 

Balance at the end of the year 5,352,178  4,615,245 

 

c) Status of Zakat 

 

The Company has filed Zakat declaration up to the financial year ended 31 December 2021 with the 

Zakat, Tax and Customs Authority (ZATCA). The Company has also obtained Zakat certificate valid 

until April 2023. 

 

18. REVENUE 

 

Disaggregated revenue information 

 

Set out below is the disaggregation of the Company’s revenue from contracts with customers: 

 
 2022  2021 

    

Sales of glass 502,179,542  463,236,025 

 

Timing of revenue recognition 

 
 2022  2021 

    

Goods transferred at point in time 502,179,542  463,236,025 

 

 2022  2021 

    

Sales to related party  77,914,799  49,217,772 

Sales other than related party  424,264,743  387,018,253 

Total revenue 502,179,542  436,236,025 
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19. COST OF REVENUE  

 
 2022  2021 

    

Cost of material 139,643,252  96,461,506 

Depreciation (note 4,5) 38,121,231  36,916,641 

Gas and electricity expenses 28,300,396  29,734,158 

Employees’ salaries and benefits 27,086,417  24,525,373 

Consumables and direct costs 12,832,832  24,150,367 

 245,984,128  211,788,045 

 

20. OTHER OPERATING INCOME 

 
 2022  2021 

    

Support charges 458,102  -- 

Rent income (refer note 20.1) 1,510,709  1,510,708 

Scrap sales 262,222  1,207,423 

Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment 17,856  58 

 2,248,889  2,718,189 

 

20.1 The rent income has the maturity period of less than one year.  

 

21. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSE 

 
 2022  2021 

    

Support charges --  2,977,457 

Other expenses 868,909  206,177 

 868,909  3,183,634 

 

22. SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES 

 
 2022  2021 

    

Freight expenses goods to customers 32,651,054  39,209,747 

Employees’ salaries and benefits 4,741,454  4,681,393 

Warehousing expenses 1,337,338  1,413,555 

Export cost 214,612  518,948 

Sales commission 28,442  100,777 

Business Travel expenses 262,659  81,025 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 4) 15,894  29,404 

Insurance 431,229  11,159 

Other 789,803  202,795 

 40,472,485  46,248,803 
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23. GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 

 
 2022  2021 

    

Employees’ salaries and benefits 15,244,276  13,362,460 

Telephone, internet and postage expenses 1,520,428  645,093 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 4) 812,990  441,296 

Shared service expense 927,038  691,562 

Professional and consulting fees (refer 23.1) 670,710  1,281,875 

Medical expenses 507,935  349,889 

Travel expenses 516,166  210,370 

Utilities 194,102  157,307 

Stationery expense 13,008  44,345 

Other expenses 2,124,612  1,274,680 

 22,531,265  18,458,877 
    

23.1 This includes the fee in relation to the IPO amounting to 31 December 2022 SR Nil (2021: SR 1 

million).  

24. FINANCE COST -NET 
 2022  2021 

    

Financing costs on Saudi Industrial Development Fund 

loan  2,880,000  3,084,000 

Financing costs on lease liabilities 1,558,870  1,676,733 

Finance income  (500,000)  -- 

Financing costs on short term loans 277,295  583,207 

Foreign Exchange currency change 217,047  461,051 

Interest cost on employees end of service benefits (note 

15) 383,399  297,484 

    

 4,816,611  6,102,475 

 

25. EARNINGS PER SHARE 

 

Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit for the period attributable to equity holders of the 

Company by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period. The calculation of 

diluted earnings per share (‘EPS’) is not applicable to the Company.  

 

 2022 2021 

   

Net profit attributable to equity holders of the Company  177,647,740 173,681,580 

   

Weighted average number of shares for basic and diluted EPS  24,000,000 24,000,000 

   

Earnings per share – Basic and diluted (in Saudi Riyals) 7.40 7.24 
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26. CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS 

 

The company has outstanding letters of credit amounting to SR 27.6 million (31 December 2021: nil) 

issued by the local banks on behalf of the company in the ordinary course of business. 

 

27. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION 

 

The Company has one reportable segment, as described below, which is the Company’s strategic 

business unit. The strategic business unit offers one product i.e Glass. The Company’s Board of 

Directors and CEO monitor the results of the Company’s operations for the purpose of making 

decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment. They are collectively the Chief 

Operating Decision Makers (CODM) for the Company.  

 

The operating segment described below have been prepared in accordance with IFRS 8. The Company 

operates in one main business segments, which is the manufacturing and sale of glass panels. 

           

          Geographical distribution of sales: 

 

Revenue 2022 2021 

   

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia 344,156,572 224,920,925 

Other countries 158,022,970 238,315,100 

   

Total revenue 502,179,542 463,236,025 

 

Revenue from two major customers represented approximately 38% (31 December 2021: 28%) of the 

Company’s total revenue. 

 

28. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

 

For the purpose of the Company’s capital management, capital includes issued capital, statutory 

reserve, and retained earnings attributable to the equity holders of the Company. The primary objective 

of the Company’s capital management is to maximize the shareholder value. 

 

The Company manages its capital structure by monitoring return on net assets and makes required 

adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions. In order to maintain or adjust the 

capital structure, the Company may adjust the amount of dividend paid to shareholders or issue new 

shares. The Company also monitors capital using gearing ratio, which is net debt, interest bearing loans 

including finance cost thereon, trade and other payable less cash and bank balances.  
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28. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

The gearing ratio as at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 is as follows: 

 

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT  

 

The Company’s principal financial liabilities comprise due to related parties, trade and other payables 

and bank borrowings. The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to finance the Company’s 

operations and to provide guarantees to support its operations. The Company’s principal financial 

assets include due from related party, short term investment, trade and other receivables and cash and 

cash equivalents. 

 

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including interest rate 

risks, currency risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Company’s overall risk 

management program focuses on robust liquidity management as well as monitoring of various 

relevant market variables, thereby consistently seeking to minimize potential adverse effects on the 

Company’s financial performance. 

 

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, 

fair value and cash flow interest rate risks and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Company’s 

overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to 

minimize potential adverse effects on the Company’s financial performance. 

 

Risk management is carried out by senior management under policies approved by the Board of 

Directors. Senior management identifies, evaluates, and hedges financial risks in close co-operation 

with the Company’s operating units. The most important types of risk are credit risk, currency risk and 

fair value risk. 

 

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Company's 

risk management framework. The executive management team is responsible for developing and 

monitoring the Company’s risk management policies. The team regularly meets, and any changes and 

compliance issues are reported to the Board of Directors through the audit committee. 

  

 2022 2021 

   

Total liabilities  148,183,576 313,106,813 

Cash and cash equivalents  (26,552,006) (112,238,660) 

Net debt  121,631,570 200,868,153 

   

Share capital 240,000,000 240,000,000 

Statutory reserve 36,862,472 19,097,698 

Retained earnings  258,366,991 144,471,766 

Equity   535,229,463 403,569,464 

   

Net debt to equity ratio 22.73% 49.8% 
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

Risk management systems are regularly reviewed by the executive management team to reflect changes 

in market conditions and the Company’s activities. The Company, through its training and management 

standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which 

all employees understand their roles and obligations. 

 

The Audit committee oversees compliance by management with the Company’s risk management 

policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework about the risks 

faced by the Company. 

 

Financial instruments carried on the statement of financial position include cash and cash equivalents, 

account receivables, other receivables, accrued and other current liabilities, lease liabilities, trade 

payables and bank borrowings. 

 

Financial asset, and liability is offset, and net amount reported in the condensed interim financial 

statements, when the Company has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognized amounts and 

intend either to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and liability simultaneously. 

 

Market risk 

 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 

because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises of two types of risk:  

 

• Foreign currency exchange risk,  

• Commission (interest) rate risk 

• Other price risk  

 

The Company’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of the financial 

market and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the Company’s financial performance. 

 

Interest rate risk 

 

Interest rate risks are the exposures to various risks associated with the effect of fluctuations in the 

prevailing interest rates on the Company’s financial positions and cash flows. The Company’s interest 

rate risks arise mainly from Term loan which is at a floating rate of interest and is subject to re-pricing 

on a regular basis and for which the management closely monitors the changes in interest rates.  

 

The interest rate profile of the Company’s interest-bearing financial instruments as reported to the 

management of the Company is as follows: 

 2022 2021 

   

Variable rate instruments   

Financial liabilities   

Loan and borrowings 
62,311,954 204,402,327 
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

Interest rate risk (continued) 

 

Sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments 

 

Change in 100 basis points in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, would have increased 

or decreased the equity and profit before Zakat for the period by SR 0.62 million (31 December 2021: 

SR 2.04 million). 

 

Currency risk 

 

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 

because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Company’s functional and reporting currency is in 

Saudi Arabian Riyals. The Company’s transactions are principally in Saudi Arabian Riyals. 

Management monitors the fluctuations in currency exchange rates and believes that the currency risk 

is not significant. The bulk of the exposure is in USD and the Saudi Arabian Riyal is pegged at SAR 

3.75: USD 1, therefore, the Company is not exposed to any significant foreign currency risk from Saudi 

Arabian Riyals and US Dollars denominated financial instruments. The Company’s management 

monitors such fluctuations and manages its effect on the financial statements accordingly. 

 

Other price risk 

 

The risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices, 

whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual instrument or its issuer or factors 

affecting all instruments traded in the market. The Company is not affected by price risk as there are 

no investment of the Company in equity shares or commodities. 

 

Credit risk 

 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and 

will cause the other party to incur a financial loss. The Company is exposed to risk on its trade and 

other receivables and cash at banks. 

 

Concentration risk 

 

Concentration risk arises when a number of counterparties engaged in similar business activities or 

activities in the same geographical region or have economic features that would cause them to fail their 

contractual obligations. To reduce exposure to credit risk, the Company has developed a formal 

approval process whereby credit limits are applied to its customers. The management also continuously 

monitors the credit exposure towards the customers and makes provision against those balances 

considered doubtful of recovery. 

 

To mitigate the risk, the Company has a system of assigning credit limits to its customers based on an 

extensive evaluation based on customer profile and payment history.  
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

Credit risk (continued) 

 

The creditworthiness of counterparties is assessed based on an analysis of quantitative and qualitative 

data regarding financial standing and business risks, together with the review of any relevant third party 

and market information. 

 

The Company’s gross maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is as follows: 

 

 2022 2021 

Financial assets   

Trade receivables 109,834,387 89,640,979 

Due from related parties 49,320,802 50,658,766 

Cash and cash equivalents  26,552,006 112,238,660 

Total 185,707,195 252,538,405 

 

With respect to credit risk arising from the financial assets of the Company, including bank balances 

and cash, the Company’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counterparty, with a 

maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts as disclosed in the statement of financial position. 

The credit risk in respect of bank balances is considered by management to be insignificant, as the 

balances are mainly held with reputable banks in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. 

 

Trade receivables 

 

Customer credit risk is managed by each business unit subject to the Company’s established policy, 

procedures and control relating to customer credit risk management. Credit quality of a customer is 

assessed based on an extensive credit rating scorecard and individual credit limits are defined in 

accordance with this assessment. The five largest customers account for 77% of outstanding accounts 

receivable at 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: 58%). 

 

The receivables are shown net of allowance for impairment of trade receivables. The Company applies 

the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss 

allowance for all trade receivables. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been 

grouped into low risk, fair risk, doubtful and loss based on shared credit risk characteristics and the 

days past due. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information 

on macroeconomic factors (such as GDP forecast and industry outlook) affecting the ability of the 

customers to settle the receivables. The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time 

value of money and reasonable and supportable information that is available at the reporting date about 

past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. 
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

Credit risk (continued) 

 

The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and expected credit losses 

for trade receivables. 

 

 
Loss rate 

Gross carrying 

amount 

Impairment loss  

allowance 

31 December 2022    

Not due balances  2% 54,349,505 853,851 

0 -180 days  7% 38,381,826 2,589,964 

181 – 360 days 14% 23,299,254 3,178,591 

Over 360 days  45% 781,812 355,604 
  116,812,397 6,978,010 

 

 Loss rate 

Gross carrying 

amount 

Impairment loss  

allowance 

31 December 2021    

Not due balances  0% 52,469,589 -- 

0 -180 days  0% 12,931,748 -- 

181 – 360 days 2% 18,623,196 455,160 

Over 360 days  16% 7,206,290 1,134,684 

  91,230,823 1,589,844 

 

Liquidity risk 

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations 

associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. 

Liquidity risk may result from an inability to sell a financial asset quickly at an amount close to its fair 

value. The Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have 

sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they are due, under both normal and stressed conditions, 

without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company’s reputation. The Company 

also monitors the levels of expected cash inflows on trade and other receivables together with the 

expected cash outflows on trade and other payables. 
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 

Liquidity risk (continued) 

 

The table below summaries the maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities based on 

contractual payments: 

 

 

 

30. FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 

transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based 

on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either: 

• In the principal market for the asset or liability; or  

• In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability  

 

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Company.  

 

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants 

would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic 

best interest. A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's 

ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to 

another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

  

31 December 2022 

Carrying 

amount 

Less than 

1 year 

2 years but 

less than 5 

years  

 

More than 

5 years  

 

Total 

 

Trade payables 14,233,303 14,233,303 -- -- 14,233,303 

Accrued and other liabilities 21,269,918 21,269,918 -- -- 21,269,918 

Due to related parties 1,329,001 1,329,001 -- -- 1,329,001 

Lease liabilities 24,484,400 2,023,182 8,092,728 30,347,952 40,463,862 

Loans and borrowings 62,311,954 62,918,660 -- -- 62,918,660 

 123,628,576 101,774,064 8,092,728 30,347,952 140,214,744 

31 December 2021 

Carrying 

amount 

Less than 

1 year 

2 years but 

less than 5 

years  

 

More than 5 

years  

 

Total 

 

Trade payables 27,451,732  27,451,732  -- -- 27,451,732  

Accrued and other liabilities 26,351,042 26,351,042 -- -- 26,351,042 

Due to related parties 1,366,109  1,366,109  -- -- 1,366,109  

Lease liabilities 29,740,019 2,422,764 9,428,029 35,355,364 47,206,156 

Loans and borrowings 204,402,327 96,547,327 109,082,208 -- 205,629,535 

 289,311,229 154,138,974 118,510,237 35,355,364 308,004,574 
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30. FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (continued) 

 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are 

categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that 

is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:  

 

• Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities  

• Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement is directly or indirectly observable  

• Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement is unobservable. 

 

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or liability falls into different levels of the fair 

value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorized in its entirety in the same level of the 

fair value hierarchy as the lowest input level that is significant to the entire measurement. 

 

The Company recognizes transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting 

period during which the change has occurred.   

 

The fair value of the equity instrument at the end of the current year is not materially different from 

the fair value measurement determined in the previous reporting period. 

 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

31 December 2022     

Investments at FVOCI     

- Investment -- -- 3,091,047 3,091,047 

     

31 December 2021     

Investments at FVOCI     

- Investment -- -- 16,699,510 16,699,510 

 

There were no transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy during the year end 31 December 

2022 and for the year ended 31 December 2021. Additionally, there were no changes in the valuation 

techniques. 

 

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:  

 

The fair value of the 'Investment at fair value through other comprehensive income has been estimated 

using a Discounted Cash Flow model (DCF). The valuation requires management to make certain 

assumptions about the model inputs, including forecast cash flows, the discount rate, and volatility.  

The probabilities of the various estimates within the range can be reasonably assessed and are used in 

management's estimate of fair value for this investment.  
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30. FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (continued) 

 

Description of significant unobservable inputs to valuation: 

 

The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement categorized within Level 3 of 

the fair value hierarchy, together with a quantitative sensitivity analysis are shown below:  

  

31 DECEMBER 2022: 

 

Item 

Valuation 

technique 

Significant 

unobservable input 

Input 

used 

Sensitivity of the 

input to fair value 

     

 

 

 

 

Investment at fair 

value through other 

comprehensive 

income 

 

 

 

 

CF 

Method 

 

 

 

Terminal growth rate 

 

 

 

2% 

l% increase in the growth rate 

would result in an increase in 

fair value by SR 1.6 million. 

 

1% decrease in the growth rate 

would result in a decrease in 

fair value by SR 1.3 million. 

 

 

 

Weighted average cost 

of capital 

 

 

11.16% 

1% increase in WACC would 

result in a decrease in fair 

value by SR 1.2 million. 

 

l% decrease in WACC would 

result in an increase in fair 

value by SR 1.5 million. 

 

31 DECEMBER 2021: 

 

Item 

Valuation 

technique 

Significant 

unobservable input 

Input 

used 

Sensitivity of the 

input to fair value 

     

 

 

 

 

Investment at fair 

value through other 

comprehensive 

income 

 

 

 

 

CF 

Method 

 

 

 

Terminal growth rate 

 

 

 

3% 

l% increase in the growth rate 

would result in an increase in 

fair value by SR 1.7 million. 

 

1% decrease in the growth rate 

would result in a decrease in 

fair value by SR 1.4 million. 

 

 

 

Weighted average cost 

of capital 

 

 

14.75% 

1% increase in WACC would 

result in a decrease in fair 

value by SR 2 million. 

 

l% decrease in WACC would 

result in an increase in fair 

value by SR 2.9 million. 
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31. NEW STANDARDS, AMENDMENT TO STANDARDS AND INTERPETATIONS 

 

Standards, interpretations, and amendments issued  

 

This table lists the recent changes to the Standards that are required to be applied for an annual period 

beginning after 1 January 2022 and that are available for early adoption in annual periods beginning 

on 1 January 2022. 

 
 
Standard / 
Interpretation 

 
 
Description 

Effective from periods 
beginning on or after 

the following date 
   

 
IAS 37 

Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract  
(Amendments to IAS 37 

 
1 January 2022 

 

Annual Improvements  
Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards  
2018–2020 

 
1 January 2022 

 
   

IAS 16 
Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before  
Intended Use (Amendments to IAS 16) 

 
1 January 2022 

 
   

IFRS 3 
Reference to the Conceptual Framework  
(Amendments to IFRS 3) 

 
1 January 2022 

 
 

Standards, interpretations and amendments issued but not yet effective 

 

The standards, interpretations and amendments issued, but not yet effective up to the date of issuance 

of the financial statements are disclosed below. The Company intends to adopt these standards, where 

applicable, when they become effective. 

 
 
Standard / 
Interpretation 

 
 
Description 

Effective from periods 
beginning on or after 

the following date 
   

IFRS 17 
Insurance contracts 

1 January 2023 
 

IAS 1 Classification of liabilities as current or non-
current (amendments to IAS 1) 

1 January 2023 
 

   

IAS 8  Definition to accounting estimates 1 January 2023 
   

IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities 
arising from a Single Transaction` 1 January 2023 

IAS 1 and IFRS 
Practice Statement 2 

 
Disclosure of Accounting Policies 1 January 2023 

   

IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or contribution of assets between investor and 
its associate or joint venture (amendments to IFRS 
10 and IAS 28) 
 

Available for optional 
adoption / effective 

date deferred 
indefinitely 
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31. NEW STANDARDS, AMENDMENT TO STANDARDS AND INTERPETATIONS 

(continued) 

 

The standards, interpretations, and amendments with an effective date of 1 January 2022 did not have 

any material impact on the Company’s financial statements, whereas, for other above-mentioned 

standards, interpretations, and amendments, the Company is currently assessing the implications on 

the financial statements on adoption. 

 

32. CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

 

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities: 

 

 Liabilities Equity  

 Lease  

liabilities 

Loans and 

borrowings 

Retained 

earnings  Total 

     

Balances as at 1 January 2022 29,740,019 204,402,327 144,471,766 378,614,112 

     

Changes from financing cash 

flows 

    

Proceeds from bank 

borrowing -- 7,486,028 -- 7,486,028 

Repayment of bank 

borrowing -- (149,576,401) -- (149,576,401) 

Capital repayment of lease 

liabilities (863,894) -- -- (863,894) 

Finance cost paid of lease 

liabilities  (1,558,870) --  -- (1,558,870) 

Dividend paid -- -- (48,000,000) (48,000,000) 

Total changes from financing 

cash flows (2,422,764) (142,090,373) (48,000,000) (192,513,137) 

     

Other Changes     

Liability related     

     

Reassessment during the year (4,391,725) -- -- (4,391,725) 

Accretion of interest 1,558,870 -- -- 1,558,870 

Total liability-related other 

changes (2,832,855) -- -- (2,832,855) 

Total equity-related other 

changes -- -- 161,895,225 161,895,225 

     

Balance at 31 December 2022 24,484,400 62,311,954 258,366,991 345,163,345 
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32. CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (continued) 

 

  Liabilities Equity  

 

 

Lease  

liabilities 

Loans and 

borrowings 

Retained 

earnings  Total 

      

Balances as at 1 January 

2021  25,513,128 231,005,000 12,161,367 268,679,495 

      

Changes from financing 

cash flows  

    

Proceeds from bank 

borrowing  -- 25,902,327 -- 25,902,327 

Repayment of bank 

borrowing  -- (52,505,000) -- (52,505,000) 

Capital repayment of lease 

liabilities  (746,031) -- -- (746,031) 

Finance cost paid of lease 

liabilities   (1,676,733) -- -- (1,676,733) 

Dividend paid  -- -- (24,000,000) (24,000,000) 

Total changes from 

financing cash flows  (2,422,764) (26,602,673) (24,000,000) (53,025,437) 

      

Other Changes      

Liability related      

      

Reassessment during the 

year  4,972,922 -- -- 4,972,922 

Accretion of interest  1,676,733 -- -- 1,676,733 

Total liability-related other 

changes  6,649,655 -- -- 6,649,655 

Total equity-related other 

changes  -- -- 156,310,399 156,310,399 

      

Balance at 31 December 

2022  29,740,019 204,402,327 144,471,766 378,614,112 

      

33. CHANGE IN COMPARATIVE FIGURES 

 

Certain prior year's comparative figures have been reclassified to ensure the correct classification and 

presentation as per IFRS standard. As a result, cash flow movement from loan and borrowing has been 

represented to present gross cash flow movement. 
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34. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

 

There have been no significant events since the year end, that would require disclosures or adjustments 

in these financial statements except: 

 

- for the new Companies Law issued through Royal Decree M/132 on 1/12/1443H (corresponding 

to 30 June 2022) (hereinafter referred to as "the Law”) that came into force on 26/6/1444 H 

(corresponding to 19 January 2023). The management is in the process of assessing the impact of 

the New Companies Law and will amend its By-Laws for any changes to align them to the 

provisions of the Law. Consequently, the Company shall present the amended By-Laws to the 

shareholders in their Extraordinary/Annual General Assembly meeting for their ratification. 

 

- On 8 January 2023, the Company announced the Board of Directors’ decision to submit a 

recommendation to the Company’s extraordinary general assembly to increase the share capital by 

capitalizing part of retained earnings by granting one share for each of the three shares. Further, on 

5 February 2023, the Company announced that it had received the approval of the Capital Market 

Authority on 2 February 2023 to increase its capital from SR 240 million to SR 320 million by 

granting one free share for every three existing shares following the date of the general assembly 

meeting, which will be determined later. 

  

35. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

The financial statements have been approved by the board of directors on 22 March 2023, 

corresponding to 30 Shaban 1444H. 
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